# DISSERTATION

# LONG CHAIN POLYUNSATURATED FATTY ACIDS AND OXYTOCIN SIGNALING IN PREGNANT HUMAN MYOMETRIAL SMOOTH MUSCLE

CELLS

Submitted by

Paul Y Kim

Graduate Program in Cell and Molecular Biology

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

For the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Colorado State University

Fort Collins, CO

Fall 2009

UMI Number: 3400977

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI 3400977 Copyright 2010 by ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This edition of the work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.

lles

ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

# COLORADO STATE UNIVERSITY

November 11, 2009

WE HEREBY RECOMMEND THAT THE DISSERTATION PREPARED UNDER OUR SUPERVISION BY PAUL Y KIM ENTITLED LONG CHAIN POLYUNSATURATED FATTY ACIDS AND OXYTOCIN SIGNALING IN PREGNANT HUMAN MYOMETRIAL SMOOTH MUSCLE CELLS BE ACCEPTED AS FULFILLING IN PART REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY.

Committee on Graduate work

Mary A Harris

Michael J Pagliassotti

Barbara M Sanborn

Advisor: Kenneth & Allen

Director: Paul J Laybourn

#### ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

# LONG CHAIN POLYUNSATURATED FATTY ACIDS AND OXYTOCIN SIGNALING IN PREGNANT HUMAN MYOMETRIAL SMOOTH MUSCLE CELLS

Since the suggestion by Olsen and colleagues that the pattern of exceptionally high birth weight in the Faroe Islands is related to a high intake of seafood, a number of epidemiological studies and interventional clinical trials have explored the possibility that consumption of long chain n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (LC n-3 PUFA) abundant in fish and fish oil, such as 20:5 eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and 22:6 docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), may lengthen gestational duration. A dose response relation between dietary LC n-3 PUFA and gestational duration has emerged wherein expectant women who consume small amounts of fish stand to benefit the most from LC n-3 PUFA supplementation. The mechanisms are not well understood. Although prostaglandins (PG) of the 2-series are known to play a role in the initiation and progress of labor, an interpretation based on modulation of PG biosynthesis appears unlikely since idiopathic preterm labor is accompanied by low PG concentrations. Consequently, we investigated one potential PG-independent mechanism of LC n-3 PUFA action using a pregnant human myometrial smooth muscle cell line, PHM1-41, as a model.

Our primary goal was to characterize the effect of DHA treatment on the signaling pathway of oxytocin, a potent uterotonic hormone involved in labor. The addition of 10  $\mu$ M to 100  $\mu$ M DHA to the culture media for 48 hrs resulted in

incorporation and dose dependent enrichment of DHA in membrane lipid. DHA significantly inhibited IP<sub>3</sub> elaboration (at 30  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M) and [Ca<sup>2+</sup>]<sub>i</sub> mobilization (at 100  $\mu$ M) in response to oxytocin stimulation compared with bovine serum albumin (BSA) control and equimolar 18:1 oleic acid (OA). DHA at 30  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M significantly reduced receptor density in the membrane (B<sub>max</sub>) without altering the binding affinity (K<sub>d</sub>) or rate of receptor internalization. These findings may be relevant to the reports of dietary fish and fish oil consumption prolonging gestation.

Paul Y Kim Graduate Program in Cell and Molecular biology Colorado State University Fort Collins, CO 80523 Fall 2009

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I owe my deepest gratitude to my mentor, advisor, and friend, Dr. Kenneth Allen. This work would not have been possible without his patience, support, and guidance. I would like to express my sincere thanks to the members of my graduate committee, Drs. Mary Harris, Mike Pagliassotti, and Barbara Sanborn for generously giving their time and expertise to this dissertation. Despite their busy schedules, I found that I could go to them for thoughtful suggestions and criticisms throughout the research process. Many thanks go to Dr. Pagliassotti and members of his laboratory, Yuren Wei and Dr. Dong Wang, for their guidance. I am indebted especially to Dr. Sanborn for welcoming me into her laboratory and allowing access to her cell line and imaging instruments. I would also like to recognize Dr. Miao Zhong for assistance with a number of assays and Dr. Mike Bizeau for helpful discussions. I am grateful to Dr. Chun-Ying Ku for her technical support and her friendship. Our thoughts and prayers are with you Jean. Finally, special thanks go to Dr. Yoonsun Kim for her support and encouragement throughout this long journey.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Title Page		i
Signature Page		ii
Abstract of the dissertation		iii
Acknowledgements		v
Table of Contents		
Long chain polyuns	aturated fatty acids and oxytocin signaling in pregnant humar	1
myometrial smooth muscle cells.		1
Chapter 1	Literature Review	1
1.1	Preterm Birth	1
1.2 Fatty acids and gestation		2
1.3 Prostaglandins and parturition		10
1.4 Membrane effects of n-3 LC PUFAs		18
1.5 References		22
Chapter 2	Introduction	41
Chapter 3	Materials and Methods	44
3.1 Chemicals		44
3.2 PHM1-41 cell culture		44
3.3 Fatty acid supplementation		45
3.4	Membrane fatty acid extraction and analysis	45
3.5	Intracellular Ca <sup>2+</sup>	46

---

3.6 Phosphatidylinositol turnover	47
3.7 Oxytocin receptor ligand binding assay	48
3.8 Oxytocin receptor internalization assay	49
3.9 Data and statistical analysis	50
Chapter 4 Results	51
4.1 Fatty acid incorporation into membrane	51
4.2 Intracellular Ca <sup>2+</sup>	53
4.3 Phosphatidylinositol turnover	54
4.4 Oxytocin receptor ligand binding assay	54
4.5 Oxytocin receptor internalization assay	55
Chapter 5 Discussion	56
References for Chapters 2 to 5	
Figures	

#### Chapter 1

#### **Literature Review**

#### 1.1 Preterm Birth

Because preterm birth (defined as less than 37 completed weeks of gestation) is the leading cause of neonatal morbidity and mortality, its treatment and prevention pose a significant public health concern (1-3). Common health complications of immaturity at birth include respiratory distress, necrotizing enterocolitis, and sepsis. Intraventricular hemorrhage occurs in up to 40% of infants born before 35 weeks of gestation (4). Longterm morbidity includes cerebral palsy, impaired vision and hearing, neurocognitive deficits, and possible cardiovascular disease in adulthood (2, 3, 5-8). A recent Swedish study has even shown a progressive increase in psychiatric hospital admissions with an increasing degree of preterm birth for adolescents and young adults (9). Besides these grave health consequences, babies born prematurely can take an emotional and financial toll on families and also represent a significant economic burden to society. Preterm birth-related costs in the U.S. for 2005 have been estimated at a minimum of \$26.2 billion dollars (10).

The National Center for Health Statistics report for 2006 indicates that 12.8% of all U.S. births were premature (10). Social and economic factors contribute to a racial disparity in the rate of preterm birth, as it is highest for non-Hispanic African American women (18.5 % in 2006), compared to the rate among white women of 11.7% in 2006. The overall rate of preterm birth in the U.S. continues to rise unabated and has climbed

more than 36% since 1981. A remarkable surge in multiple births (71% increase since 1981), attributable perhaps to increased use of assisted reproductive technologies, may account for part of that increase but Davidoff et al (1) have recently reported changes in gestational duration among singleton births. They have found that the duration of gestation has shifted over the 1992 to 2002 time frame, with birth at 39 weeks becoming the most common length of gestation in 2002 compared to 40 weeks in 1992. Late preterm births, that is, delivery occurring between 34 full weeks gestation and 36 weeks and 6 days gestation (11), have risen sharply over the 1992 to 2002 period (1) and comprised 75% of all singleton preterm births in 2006 (10). Although these late preterm infants tend to be healthier than very preterm infants, their health problems are not limited to transient issues such as hypoglycemia or hypothermia. In 2002, late preterm infants were 3 times more likely than term infants to die before their first birthday (7.9 versus 2.4 deaths per 1000 live births) and 6 times more likely to die within the first week of life (2.8 versus 0.5 deaths per 1000 live births) (12). These fold differences in mortality have remained more or less constant since 1995 and are well known. However, there is growing evidence indicating that late preterm infants are also at greater risk of long-term morbidity (13) such as cerebral palsy (14), speech impairment (15), and educational and behavioral problems (16, 17) as a result of incomplete neurodevelopment.

# 1.2 Fatty Acids and Gestation

Evidence from observational and clinical studies indicate that essential fatty acids of the omega 3 (n-3) and n-6 series may potentially modify gestational duration (18). An early epidemiological study in Denmark and the Faroe Islands by Olsen et al linked high levels of long-chain n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid (LC n-3 PUFA) intakes in Faroese mothers, owing to a diet rich in marine fat, with high average birthweights (19). The higher birthweight (194 g) observed in Faroese mothers compared to their Danish peers was partly attributable to a 4-day increase in gestational duration. In a similar study, erythrocyte fatty acid profiles were obtained from randomly selected groups of Faroese and Danish mothers within 2 days of delivery (20). The longer gestational duration (2.0 days) and higher birthweight (140 g) observed in the Faroese group were not significantly different from the Danish group, but a 20% increase in the ratio of maternal erythrocyte LC n-3 PUFAs to 20:4 n-6 arachidonic acid (AA) was associated with a significant increase in gestational duration of 5.7 days in the Danish women. The suggestion is that once LC n-3 PUFA levels exceed a certain threshold, further increases may not have an effect on pregnancy outcomes (discussed below and 25). A randomized, controlled fishoil supplementation trial from the 30<sup>th</sup> week of pregnancy until delivery, showed that gestation was significantly prolonged by approximately 4 days when pregnant women consumed a fish oil supplement (Pikasol) providing a total of 920 mg 22:6 n-3 docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and 1.3 g 20:5 n-3 eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) per day (21).

A cross-sectional case-control study in 22 women with pre-eclampsia (pregnancyinduced hypertension with proteinuria, which carries risk of premature delivery) found that women with the lowest levels of erythrocyte n-3 fatty acids were 7.6 times more likely to have pre-eclampsia than women with the highest levels of n-3 fatty acids (22). A 15% increase in the n-3:n-6 fatty acid ratio was associated with a 46% reduction in risk

for pre-eclampsia. On the other hand, in a randomized, prospective, double-blind trial, providing 3 g per day supplementary EPA commencing at 12 to 14 weeks of gestation to pregnant women with a history of intrauterine growth retardation did not prevent the recurrence of pregnancy-induced hypertension or intrauterine growth retardation (23).

A randomized clinical trial focusing on fish oil administration in high-risk pregnancies and comprising both prophylactic and therapeutic trials in pregnant women has been reported by Olsen's group in Denmark (24). The four prophylactic trials enrolled women with uncomplicated pregnancies who were deemed to have higher than average risk because they had experienced preterm delivery (< 37 weeks of gestation), intrauterine growth retardation ( $< 5^{th}$  percentile), pregnancy-induced hypertension (diastolic blood pressure > 100 mm Hg) in an earlier pregnancy, or were currently carrying twins. The two therapeutic trials enrolled women with an existing pregnancy complication, either signs or symptoms of preeclampsia (with or without intrauterine growth retardation) or suspected intrauterine growth retardation ( $< 10^{th}$  percentile by ultrasonography). These trials were mutually exclusive: the previous preterm delivery subset did not contain any women who had either previous intrautering growth retardation or previous pregnancy-induced hypertension and the previous intrauterine growth retardation subset did not contain any women who had previous pregnancy-induced hypertension. The remaining three subsets were defined independently of any previous pregnancy history.

The women were randomly assigned to receive either a fish oil supplement (Pikasol) or olive oil commencing at 20 weeks of gestation for the prophylactic trials and 33 weeks of gestation for the therapeutic trials. Fish oil, at the prophylactic dose (total of 920 mg DHA and 1.3 g EPA per day), significantly reduced the recurrence risk of preterm delivery from

33% to 21%, a reduction of approximately 36%. This was accompanied by significant increases in gestational duration of 8.5 days and birthweight of 209 g. The recurrence risks of intrauterine growth retardation or pregnancy-induced hypertension were similar between the fish oil and olive oil groups however. In the twin pregnancy group, the prophylactic fish oil dose had no effect on the occurrence of preterm delivery, intrauterine growth retardation, or pregnancy-induced hypertension. The therapeutic fish oil dose (total of 2.1 g DHA and 2.9 g EPA per day) had no effect on the mean duration of pregnancy in the pre-eclampsia group, or on the mean birthweight adjusted for gestational age in the suspected intrauterine growth retardation group.

This study (24) has since been reinterpreted in relation to habitual fish intake (25). This reinterpretation determined that prophylactic fish oil supplementation significantly reduced the hazard rate of spontaneous preterm delivery by 44% and 39%, respectively, in low and middle fish consumers but there was no effect in high fish consumers. Thus, the earlier observations by Olsen's group of an effect of fish oil supplementation on singleton pregnancies (21) and in high-risk pregnancies (24) depend on the baseline fish intake of the pregnant women. A prospective cohort study in Denmark has shown that low consumption of fish is a strong risk factor for preterm delivery and low birthweight (26). Occurrence of preterm delivery and low birthweight were found to decrease significantly and progressively with increasing exposure to dietary LC n-3 PUFA, with adjusted odds ratios of 3.60 for preterm delivery and 3.57 for low birthweight in the lowest exposure group relative to the highest exposure group. The essential fatty acid linolenic acid (LnA) can be converted to DHA through microsomal desaturation and elongation. This conversion, however, is very limited in humans, unaffected by the dietary linoleic acid (LA) to LnA ratio, and

increasing dietary LnA intake mostly increases phospholipid EPA content (27, 28). Therefore, the most effective way to increase DHA in plasma membrane phospholipids is to consume preformed DHA from sources such as fish and fish oils (29).

Most of the studies on fish oil supplementation and pregnancy duration have employed large doses of fish oil – gram quantities on a daily basis. However, a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial using DHA enriched eggs, providing an additional 100 mg DHA per day in the last trimester of pregnancy, reported a significant 6 day increase in gestational duration (30). Infant birthweight and length, and head circumference were not significantly different. Participants in this study were 73% African Americans, a group known to be at heightened risk for shortened gestation (10) and in this group, modest amounts of supplementary DHA (approximately 100 mg per day) were effective in prolonging gestation.

A prospective study (31) evaluated the fatty acid status of women who delivered prematurely. In this study, 37 preterm (gestational age < 37 weeks) and 34 control mother-baby dyads (gestational age  $\geq$  37 weeks) were examined. Gestational age at delivery and birthweight were significantly lower by 16% and 38%, respectively, in the preterm group compared to the control term deliveries. Fatty acid analyses of samples from women who delivered at  $\geq$  37 weeks were conducted both at 34 weeks of gestation and at delivery in order to control for gestational duration effects on maternal pools. Percent of total AA in the maternal erythrocyte and plasma were significantly higher in preterm than in controls sampled at comparable gestational age (34 weeks) and at delivery. Erythrocyte AA in preterm samples were increased a remarkable 278% compared to controls at delivery and 149% compared to controls at 34 weeks. Plasma

total lipids AA were increased 42% and 18% respectively, in preterm births compared to controls at delivery and at 34 weeks. The AA enrichment in both maternal erythrocytes and plasma total lipids is quite striking, and suggests that the diet consumed by these women is high in n-6 fatty acids and low in n-3 fatty acids. The higher LA in preterm erythrocytes, 190% and 47% increase, respectively, compared to controls at delivery and at 34 weeks, supports this interpretation. Differences in maternal pools of LC n-3 PUFA were also observed in preterm versus controls. Percent of total DHA in plasma phospholipids (32%) and plasma total lipids (29%) as well as EPA in erythrocytes (129%) were significantly higher in the term deliveries. Al et al have suggested that pregnancy imposes increased demands on maternal DHA supply because of increased provision to the fetus (32). Thus, low maternal LC n-3 PUFA status at the onset of pregnancy is probably magnified by the demands of the fetus.

Not all n-3 intake studies in human pregnancy have reported an effect on gestational duration. A case-control nested cohort study in Danish women of dietary intake of marine n-3 fatty acids, estimated by food frequency questionnaire 6 months to 3 1/2 years after delivery, showed no relationship with pregnancy duration (33). A combined self-administered questionnaire and interview in the 30<sup>th</sup> week of gestation to assess n-3 intake in Danish women also found no association with gestational length (34). However, both of these studies estimated n-3 intake by retrospective questionnaires and did not employ controlled experimental designs. Since the questionnaire and interview in the 30<sup>th</sup> week of gestation focused on marine foods and fish oil, some of the women may have increased their consumption of marine foods in the third trimester under the impression that it would be beneficial.

Some n-3 or fish oil supplementation trials have also failed to demonstrate an effect on gestational duration (35-38). A double-blinded, randomized study in pregnant women providing supplements of either 10 mL per day cod liver oil (providing 803 mg EPA and 1183 mg DHA) or 10 mL per day corn oil (providing 4747 mg LA) from weeks 17 to 19 of gestation to delivery showed no differences in gestational duration or birthweight (35). The women in this Norwegian study habitually consumed 550 mg per day of EPA and DHA in contrast to an average consumption of just 121 mg per day for women in the United States. This high baseline intake of n-3 PUFAs may have reached saturation level in the dose response relation between dietary fish oil and gestational duration reported by Olsen et al (21). A randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blinded study in Australia provided 4 g fish oil (56% DHA and 28% EPA) daily from 20 weeks gestation until delivery (36). No differences were detected in pregnancy outcomes such as gestational duration, infant birthweight, length, head circumference, and 5 minute Appar score. A large Danish study examined a range of supplementary EPA plus DHA doses (0.1, 0.3, 0.7, 1.4, and 2.8 g per day) and 2.2 g per day LnA, provided to pregnant women from weeks 17 to 22 of gestation until delivery (37). Again, there were no differences in gestational duration. However, this study measured maternal erythrocyte DHA, EPA, and AA in only a small subset (< 5% in each group) and non-compliance (failure to take the supplementary capsules until delivery) was 40%. A recent European randomized multicenter trial examined fish oil and folate supplements, providing 500 mg DHA and 150 mg EPA, 400 µg methylenetetrahydrofolic acid, or both, supplements per day to pregnant women from 22 weeks of gestation until delivery (38). While the fish oil supplements improved fetal LC n-3 PUFA status and attenuated depletion of maternal

stores, there were no effects on gestational duration, pregnancy outcomes, or fetal development.

Four recent reviews and meta-analyses of marine oil (n-3) effects on pregnancy outcomes have been published (39-42). Three of these reviews were limited to randomized, controlled trials (39, 40, 42) and the other included observational studies (41). Two of these reviews concluded that LC n-3 PUFA supplementation lengthened gestational duration, but that the mean effect size was small (40, 41). It is important to note that these meta-analyses may have decreased sensitivity for detecting an effect because they do not take into account the variable baseline LC n-3 PUFA status among the study populations. The meta-analysis by Horvath et al determined that supplementation with LC n-3 PUFAs reduced the relative risk of early preterm delivery (< 34 weeks of gestation) in high-risk pregnancies to 0.39 but did not detect other changes in pregnancy outcomes (42). The Cochrane Database Review (39) concluded that there was insufficient evidence to support the routine use of marine oil and individual n-3 fatty acids such as DHA and EPA during pregnancy to reduce the risk of preterm birth, pre-eclampsia, or low birthweight. However, the 6 trials reviewed showed that mean gestational duration was increased significantly by 2.6 days with LC n-3 PUFA supplementation. As the authors of one meta-analysis note, an effect of this magnitude may not be clinically important to most infants but such a shift in the distribution of a population may decrease the proportion of babies born prematurely (39).

Inflammation appears to be a principal characteristic of human labor. Investigators have demonstrated leukocyte infiltration into the myometrium with onset of labor (43-45) and data from suppressive subtraction hybridization (46) and gene arrays

(47-51) indicate that labor induces the expression of genes primarily involved in the acute inflammatory response. Cytokine concentrations are elevated in both term and preterm labor with approximately 3-6 fold increases in IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and IL-8 in amniotic and chorionic-decidual tissues (52). As potent lipid mediators of the inflammatory pathway derived from essential fatty acids, prostaglandins represent an attractive and often invoked mechanism (21, 25, 30) for the effect of LC n-3 PUFA on gestational duration.

# 1.3 Prostaglandins and Parturition

Prostaglandins (PG) belong to a family of 20-carbon signaling molecules (eicosanoids) derived primarily from AA. Nearly all nucleated cells generate PGs and the biosynthetic pathway is well characterized. In the first step of PG production, AA is liberated from cellular membrane phospholipids by the action of phospholipase (PL) A<sub>2</sub>, PLC, and PLD. The second, rate-limiting step consists of the oxygenation and reduction of AA by prostaglandin H synthase (PGHS) also known as cyclooxygenase (COX) to form an intermediate endoperoxide, PGH<sub>2</sub>. The final step of PG synthesis is the conversion of PGH<sub>2</sub> to one of the biologically active prostaglandins by terminal PG synthases.

Although membrane phospholipid AA serves as the principal substrate for PGHS, giving rise to the 2-series PGs, PGHS are also capable of processing EPA, leading to formation of the anti-inflammatory 3-series PGs and reducing production of the 2-series. Suppression of 2-series PG synthesis by LC n-3 PUFAs may involve downregulation of PGHS expression (53, 54), displacement of AA from membrane phospholipids (55, 56), or in the case of EPA, competition with AA for PGHS activity. DHA is not a substrate for PGHS but it has been shown to competitively inhibit PGHS in vitro (57, 58) and data from

in vivo studies indicate that DHA alone can inhibit 2-series PG production. In neonatal pigs, a diet containing 0.7 g DHA per 100 g of total fatty acids significantly increased lung phospholipid DHA and tended to suppress the production of lung 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> (a stable metabolite of prostacyclin) and  $TXB_2$  (a stable metabolite of thromboxane A2) (59). A similar study in mice has demonstrated that supplementing with 3 g DHA per 100 g of diet more than doubles phospholipid DHA content and significantly decreases basal small intestine PGE<sub>2</sub> and 6-keto-PGF<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub> concentrations by nearly 50% (60). In pregnant rats, DHA in the diet at 0.7 energy % from conception to day 20 of gestation significantly increased uterus and placenta DHA content at the expense of AA and significantly reduced uterus and placenta PGE<sub>2</sub> and PGF<sub>2 $\alpha$ </sub> production rates (61). These effects may be based in part on retroconversion of DHA to EPA, estimated to occur at a rate of 9.4% in one human study (62). In the neonatal pig (59) and pregnant rat studies (61), DHA supplementation was accompanied by a negligible increase in EPA however. Furthermore, Ikeda et al have reported that dietary DHA, but not EPA decreases aortic prostacyclin production, therefore DHA alone may be sufficient to modulate PG synthesis (63).

Numerous studies suggest that PGs play a key role in each of the five major physiological events of labor: membrane rupture, cervical ripening, myometrial contractility, placental separation, and uterine involution (64). PGs may contribute to the rupture of fetal membranes by inducing matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) expression. Studies in various systems such as rat mesangial cells (65), cultured human pancreatic cancer cells (66), fetal rat hepatocytes (67), and murine macrophages (68) have established that PGE<sub>2</sub> promotes MMP expression and the same has been shown for PGF<sub>2a</sub> in cultured human ciliary smooth muscle cells (69, 70). Fetal bovine serum-stimulated PGE<sub>2</sub> production has

been shown to increase latent MMP-9 expression in fetal membrane tissue culture (71). Similarly, exogenous  $PGF_{2\alpha}$  stimulation causes a significant increase in MMP-2 and MMP-9 production in tissue cultures of decidua, but not amnion or chorion, and this is accompanied by a large decrease in tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinases-1 (TIMP-1) (72). Both of these in vitro studies determined that inhibition of COX using indomethacin suppresses the PG-mediated increase in MMP expression by 35-80% depending on the PG, MMP, and fetal tissue type.

Zinc-dependent endopeptidases of the MMP family degrade extracellular matrix components and thereby remodel the reproductive tissues as parturition approaches. MMP-1, MMP-2, and MMP-9 break down collagen types I-V (73), which predominate in the extracellular matrix of fetal membranes (74). MMP-9 in particular has been implicated in the premature rupture of membranes (75), defined as membrane rupture before the onset of labor. An increase in the ratio of MMP-9 to TIMP-1 correlates with decreasing tensile strength of fetal membranes (76). Amniotic fluid obtained from women at term with normal labor exhibit greater MMP-9 activity (~2.3-fold higher) than nonlaboring women, but samples from women with premature rupture of membranes show a combination of conspicuously increased MMP-9 activity (~5.3-fold higher) and significantly decreased concentrations of TIMP-1 (77). The women with premature rupture of membranes in this study (77) experienced membrane rupture at gestational ages between 28 and 36 weeks. Given the swift progression from membrane rupture to delivery (78), it is likely that most, if not all, of these women delivered prematurely. These observations are consistent with reports by Athayde et al that the amniotic fluid MMP-9 concentration is elevated 2-fold in women with *preterm* premature rupture of membranes (rupture prior to 37 weeks of

gestation) compared to women with premature rupture of membranes at term (79). These data suggest that a shift in the equilibrium of matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors may facilitate premature rupture of the membranes leading to preterm delivery.

Cervical ripening is a phenomenon akin to membrane rupture in that it is also an MMP-dependent process. MMPs carry out extensive remodeling of the cervical extracellular matrix to turn a firm and rigid organ soft and compliant in preparation for delivery. In addition to promoting collagen degradation via MMPs, PGE<sub>2</sub> and its n-6 fatty acid precursors LA and AA, have been found to impair collagen synthesis (80, 81). Application of exogenous  $PGE_2$  into the cervical canal has been used clinically to induce ripening for decades (82, 83). Since Liggins first likened cervical ripening to an inflammatory process in 1981 (84), considerable literature has accumulated in support of this concept. The influx of inflammatory cells such as neutrophils and monocytes into the cervical stroma has been well documented (43-45). Cervical ripening appears to be associated with the up-regulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase, a common feature of inflammation (85). IL-8 levels in the cervix have been shown to increase 6-fold at term and 11-fold just before the onset of labor (86). These proinflammatory factors function in concert with each other. IL-8 recruits and activates neutrophils (87), which themselves are a rich source of proinflammatory cytokines and eicosanoids.  $PGE_2$  is able to induce IL-8 expression through the cAMP signaling pathway and can act synergistically with IL-8 to enhance IL-8-mediated chemotaxis of neutrophils (88, 89). PGE<sub>2</sub> may also play an indirect role in cervical ripening through its vasoactive properties. Dilation and increased permeability of blood vessels would facilitate the infiltration of leukocytes into the cervix (90).

There is some evidence to suggest that PGs are involved in the postpartum period. PGF<sub>2a</sub> levels in the maternal circulation increase during labor but do not peak until after delivery, reaching their maximum at (91, 92) or within minutes after (93) placental separation. Data from animal studies show a correlation between uterine involution and plasma concentrations of PGF<sub>2a</sub> in cows (94) and ewes (95), but not in mares (96). Treatment with PGF<sub>2a</sub> enhances uterine involution in cows (97-99) and buffalos (100), but again, not in mares (101).

A large body of literature exists on the role of PGs in myometrial contractility. Bygdeman and Eliasson were the first to study the effect of PGs on the human uterus using isolated myometrial strips (102, 103). Bygdeman and colleagues were able to demonstrate in subsequent in vivo work that intravenous infusion of PGE<sub>1</sub> stimulates uterine contractions (104). Further in vivo research by Karim et al found that intravenous, subcutaneous, intramuscular, and oral administration of PGE<sub>2</sub> or PGF<sub>2a</sub> excites pregnant human myometrium (105, 106). Conversely, inhibition of COX with indomethacin has been shown to diminish uterine contractions and delay labor (107, 108). Since these actions of PGs may be pharmacologic rather than physiologic, other studies have focused on the levels of PGs (and their precursor AA) in the amniotic fluid during pregnancy and found that these are elevated in labor (109-115). There is evidence for a causal relationship between PGs and labor i.e. that increased bioavailability of PGE<sub>2</sub> and PGF<sub>2a</sub> precedes labor rather than being a consequence of labor (116). Together these data support a central role of PGs in initiating and maintaining normal labor.

The role of PGs in preterm labor is less well defined. The relationship between intrauterine infection, accompanied by large increases in PGs, and preterm labor has long

been recognized. Knox and Hoerner were among the first to investigate the etiologic role of infection in the premature rupture of membranes (117). Since that classic paper in 1950, a consistent picture of how infections cause preterm labor has developed (118). Endotoxins and exotoxins secreted by the infective organisms stimulate the maternal decidua and fetal membrane tissues to produce a number of proinflammatory cytokines (119-122). Other processes at work may include an increase in corticotropin-releasing hormone secretion by the fetus and a decrease in prostaglandin dehydrogenase activity in the chorion (123). These pathways all contribute to increased PG production and decreased PG metabolism as a result of intrauterine infection, culminating in PG-mediated preterm labor (124-126).

In the absence of infections however, reproductive tissue PG production is lower in women delivering preterm compared with women delivering at term (127-129). For instance, Reece et al reported significantly lower PGE<sub>2</sub> and PGF<sub>2α</sub> concentrations in amnion and placenta samples from women with preterm compared to term births (128). Sadovsky et al found that the levels of PGE<sub>2</sub> in the amnion, chorion, decidua, and myometrium from women in labor were two-fold to five-fold higher than from nonlaboring women (129). However, both amniotic COX-2 expression and PGE<sub>2</sub> levels in these tissues were much lower in preterm than in term births, consistent with earlier observations (127, 128). Differences in the mobilization of reproductive tissue AA stores between preterm and term labor could account for differences in PG concentrations but fetal membrane phospholipids contain high concentrations of esterified AA (130) making an interpretation based on depleted AA pools unlikely (31). Studies indicate that AA bioavailability is not rate limiting for PG synthesis in term placenta (131, 132) but this has not been thoroughly examined in preterm reproductive tissues.

In view of the low PG concentration and synthetic capacity in idiopathic preterm labor, it is difficult to reconcile the well known effect of LC n-3 PUFAs on reducing PG production (56-62, 133-135) as the sole mechanism of action for prolonging gestation. Olson et al have demonstrated in the mouse that preterm labor induced by various means is associated with an increase in uterine  $PGF_{2\alpha}$  receptor mRNA (136-138). Interestingly, uterine  $PGF_{2\alpha}$  concentrations did not increase in preterm mice relative to gestational agematched controls, similar to the situation of preterm birth absent infection in humans. Based on these data, Olson has suggested that enhanced sensitivity to PGs, rather than a rise in PG concentrations, may be an important mechanism in mediating idiopathic preterm labor (64). Increased responsiveness to low PG concentrations in idiopathic preterm labor may reflect differential expression and function of PG receptors as proposed by Sadovsky et al (129).

As fatty acid derivatives, PGs were initially thought to exert their effects through direct interaction with the plasma membrane. However, observations that the actions of PGs were associated with the generation of second messengers such as cAMP or Ca<sup>2+</sup> (139) along with studies comparing the potency of the various prostanoids and their antagonists in a range of tissues suggested that each prostanoid has its own distinct receptor (140-142). Eight G protein-coupled receptors (GPCR) have been cloned and characterized to date - one each for PGD<sub>2</sub>, PGF<sub>2a</sub>, PGI<sub>2</sub>, and TXA<sub>2</sub>, and four for PGE<sub>2</sub> - designated as DP, FP, IP, TP, and EP<sub>1-4</sub>, respectively. These receptors can be classified as relaxatory (DP, IP, EP<sub>2</sub>, EP<sub>4</sub>) or contractile (FP, TP, EP<sub>1</sub>, EP<sub>3</sub>) on the basis of their action in smooth muscle.

Only one study has compared the expression of PG receptors in preterm birth with term birth in pregnant human myometrium (143). Subjects in this study comprised preterm or term pregnancies that were delivered by cesarean section in the absence or presence of labor. The expression of  $EP_2$  in the lower myometrium declined with advancing gestational age, consistent with a role of EP<sub>2</sub> in maintaining uterine quiescence through coupling to G<sub>s</sub>, resulting in cAMP-dependent relaxation. The expression of FP mRNA in the lower myometrium was higher at preterm with and without labor compared to term without labor. In the absence of labor, the high expression of contractile FP receptors at preterm may have been offset by high expression of relaxatory EP<sub>2</sub> receptors. In the presence of labor, the relative expression of FP to EP<sub>2</sub> was lower at preterm than at term, consequently providing no evidence that differential expression of PG receptors mediates enhanced PG responsiveness in preterm labor. The expression of  $EP_2$  and FP receptors in the lower myometrium is unlikely to represent total uterine function however. The topographical pattern of receptor expression may be important, as studies in baboons have demonstrated higher expression of contractile receptors  $(EP_1, EP_3)$  and lower expression of relaxatory receptors  $(EP_2, EP_4)$  in fundal tissue compared with myometrium from the lower uterine segment, where relaxation of the uterus may facilitate delivery (144). The balance of PG receptors beyond the lower myometrium may shift inappropriately in preterm labor such that low levels of PGs are sufficient for initiating and maintaining labor. Other events influencing PG responsiveness in preterm labor may include differential coupling of PG receptors to effector proteins, which may also involve alternative splicing of the receptors.

### 1.4 Membrane effects of LC n-3 PUFAs

The mechanism of LC n-3 PUFA action is not limited to replacing AA as an eicosanoid substrate and inhibiting AA metabolism; LC n-3 PUFAs can act at the plasma membrane level as well. The original demonstration of an effect of LC n-3 PUFAs on a membrane-associated process, and one that has progressed from initial observation through mechanistic understanding to clinical application is the antiarrhythmic effect of fish and fish oil consumption (145-147). McLennan et al were the first to show, in rats (148, 149) and marmoset monkeys (150), that feeding of n-3 PUFA enriched diets significantly reduced coronary artery ligation-induced ventricular fibrillation. Leaf et al confirmed these findings in a dog model of sudden cardiac death using intravenous infusion of free n-3 PUFAs rather than feeding experiments (151-152). Studies in isolated neonatal rat cardiomyocytes have shown that n-3 PUFA administration to the culture medium could both prevent and terminate arrhythmias induced by  $Ca^{2+}$  (153), ouabain (154), isoproterenol (155), lysophosphatidylcholine, acylcarnitine, the Ca<sup>2+</sup> ionophore A23187 (156), and thromboxane (157). The addition of delipidated bovine serum albumin caused the extraction of free fatty acids from the myocytes and the return of induced arrhythmia, indicating that the antiarrhythmic action of n-3 PUFAs does not involve incorporation into the plasma membrane phospholipids, but rather simple partition into the lipid bilayer. In animal feeding studies as well as clinical trials, the n-3 PUFAs are incorporated into membranes at the sn-2 position of phospholipids but the free n-3 fatty acids can be readily released during myocardial infarction by phospholipase A2. LC n-3 PUFAs stabilize the electrical activity of cardiomyocytes primarily by inhibiting the fast, voltage-dependent sodium current and the L-type calcium current

(158). The precise site of action in cardiomyocytes still needs to be fully elucidated, but data from Andersen and colleagues (159-162) have led to the current thinking that LC n-3 PUFAs modulate ion channels through changes in plasma membrane fluidity and elasticity in the microdomain bordering the transmembrane protein.

A recent examination of the Shaker K channel has considered another potential mechanism based on electrostatic interaction (163). This lipoelectric hypothesis proposes that upon insertion of the lipophilic PUFA into the lipid bilayer (or hydrophobic pocket of the channel protein), the negatively charged carboxyl group acts electrostatically on the ion channel voltage sensor. Uncharged PUFA methyl esters do not affect the voltage dependence of *Shaker* K channels suggesting that PUFAs may not act purely through membrane distortion. LC n-3 PUFAs have also been shown to exert their antiinflammatory properties through eicosanoid-independent membrane effects. The successful application of LC n-3 PUFAs in the treatment of immune-inflammatory diseases is based largely on their ability to suppress T lymphocyte activation (164-167). This suppression in turn results from the displacement of key signaling proteins from T cell membrane lipid rafts. Lipid rafts are sphingolipid and cholesterol-rich subdomains within the plane of the plasma membrane. The term raft illustrates the concept of these tightly packed, liquid-ordered domains floating in a less densely packed, liquiddisordered sea where they are thought to function as signaling platforms (168). As such, a number of proteins involved in signal transduction are known to associate with lipid rafts, targeted there by acylation with saturated fatty acids (169). LC n-3 PUFAs have been proposed to disrupt T cell activation by displacing raft-resident signaling proteins such as Src family kinases and transmembrane linker for activation of T cells from lipid rafts

(170-172). LC n-3 PUFAs are thought to act by altering raft composition and structure, although changes in protein fatty acylation may also contribute to the displacement of proteins from lipid rafts (173). Recent data from MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cells indicate that n-3 PUFAs inhibit tumor growth by modifying raft lipid composition and selectively decreasing epidermal growth factor receptor localization to lipid rafts (174). To confirm these in vitro findings, Chapkin et al have demonstrated in vivo that dietary LC n-3 PUFAs remodel mouse T cell lipid rafts and suppress T cell proliferation (175, 176).

These observations raise the possibility that dietary LC n-3 PUFAs prolong gestational duration through changes in the lipid bilayer properties. The neurohypophysial hormone oxytocin is one example of an important membrane-mediated signaling pathway in parturition. Oxytocin is best known for its potent uterotonic activity (177) but data from some animal studies (178-181) suggest that oxytocin may be involved in the initiation of labor. In humans, myometrial sensitivity to oxytocin is significantly increased in women delivering preterm and decreased in women delivering post-term (182). The oxytocin receptor belongs to the class A G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) family characterized by seven transmembrane domains; hence, it may potentially be influenced by the lipid composition and architecture of the plasma membrane in which it embeds. Fahrenholz et al have demonstrated that membrane cholesterol acts as an allosteric modulator of the oxytocin receptor, stabilizing it in a high-affinity state and protecting it from thermal denaturation (183-186). Gimpl and Fahrenholz have measured 10-15% of the total oxytocin receptor with a two-fold enrichment of the high-affinity

binding sites in the cholesterol-rich low-density membrane fractions of HEK293 fibroblasts stably expressing the oxytocin receptor (187).

The classical function of oxytocin is linked to reproduction but it can also stimulate or inhibit cell growth depending on the cell line (188). The oxytocin receptor appears to mediate these opposite effects through different signaling pathways depending on its localization in different membrane domains. In stably transfected MDCK and HEK293 cells, the oxytocin receptor is largely excluded from caveolae (a specialized subset of lipid rafts) and oxytocin inhibits cell proliferation (189, 190). When the oxytocin receptor is targeted to caveolae by fusion with caveolin-2, oxytocin becomes proliferative. Extraction of cholesterol with methyl-β-cyclodextrin (MβCD) results in redistribution of oxytocin-caveolin-2 chimeric receptors outside caveolae and reverses the mitogenic effect of oxytocin. In prostatic stromal cells, Whittington et al have reported that oxytocin-induced inhibition of cell growth is eradicated by MBCD treatment suggesting that this effect is mediated by oxytocin receptors localized within caveolae (191). The discrepancy between these studies probably reflects differences in the experimental systems. Taken together these data suggest that while the oxytocin receptor is not strictly a lipid raft resident, perturbation of the cholesterol-rich low-density membrane subdomains (lipid raft or caveolae) may have consequences for oxytocinmediated signaling.

Besides receptors, other signal transducing proteins are known to segregate to lipid rafts, notably heterotrimeric G proteins (192-198). Fatty acylation appears to play a role in targeting G $\alpha$  subunits to lipid rafts (199-201). S-acylation predominantly involves palmitoylation but PUFAs can also act as substrates for S-acyltransferases (202-204).

Moffet et al have shown that acylation by unsaturated rather than saturated fatty acids reduces the localization of G<sub>i</sub> in lipid rafts (193). Not only proteins but also signaling lipids such as phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP<sub>2</sub>) partition to lipid rafts. Pike et al have demonstrated that at least 50% of the PIP<sub>2</sub> in A431 cells compartmentalizes to caveolae and that this pool is the primary site of hormone-stimulated PIP<sub>2</sub> turnover (205). Furthermore, cholesterol depletion by MBCD specifically delocalizes PIP<sub>2</sub> from caveolae and results in the inhibition of PIP<sub>2</sub> turnover in response to agonists (206). In cells that lack caveolae such as Neuro 2a, FRT, and KB, a large proportion of PIP<sub>2</sub> still localizes to cholesterol-rich low-density membrane fractions suggesting that PIP<sub>2</sub> compartmentalization is a general feature of many cells (207). In any event, myometrial smooth muscle cells are very rich in caveolae, which may represent another possible site of LC n-3 PUFA action. Manipulation of plasma membrane cholesterol using MBCD remains controversial (208) but dietary LC n-3 PUFAs have been shown to reduce cholesterol levels in caveolae/lipid rafts in vivo (209, 210). These membrane-associated LC n-3 PUFA actions intimate plausible mechanisms whereby dietary LC n-3 PUFAs may influence parturition independent of PGs, particularly in idiopathic preterm labor where the PG status unexpectedly favors the maintenance of pregnancy.

## 1.5 References

1. Davidoff MJ, Dias T, Damus K, Russell R, Bettegowda VR, Dolan S, Schwarz RH, Green NS, Petrini J. Changes in gestational age distribution among U.S. singleton births: Impact on rates of late preterm birth, 1992 to 2002. Semin Perinatol 30: 8-15, 2006.

2. McCormack MC. The contribution of low birth weight to infant mortality and childhood morbidity. N Engl J Med 312: 82-90, 1985.

3. Kramer MS, Demissie K, Yang H, Platt RW, Sauve R, Liston R. The contribution of mild and moderate preterm birth to infant mortality. JAMA 284: 843-849, 2000.

4. Paneth N, Pinto-Martin J. The epidemiology of germinal matrix/intraventricular hemorrhage. In: Kiely M (ed) Reproductive and Perinatal Epidemiology. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, pp 371-399, 1990.

5. Committee on Understanding Premature Birth and Assuring Healthy Outcomes. Preterm Birth: Causes, Consequences, and Prevention. Behrman RE, Butler AS, Eds., National Academies Press, Washington, D.C., 2006.

6. Crawford MA. Placental delivery of arachidonic and docosahexaenoic acids: implications for the lipid nutrition of premature infants. Am J Clin Nutr 71: 275S-284S, 2000.

7. Lubcheno LC, Delivoria-Papadopoulos M, Searls D. Long-term follow up studies of prematurely born infants. II. Influence of birth weight and gestational age on sequealae. J Pediatr 80: 509-512, 1972.

8. Olsen SF. Further on the association between retarded foetal growth and adult cardiovascular disease. Could low intakes of marine diet be a common cause? J Clin Epidemiol 4: 565-569, 1994.

9. Lindstrom K, Lindblad F, Hjern A. Psychiatric morbidity in adolescents and young adults born preterm: a Swedish National Cohort study. Pediatrics 123: e47-e53, 2009.

10. Martin JA, Hamilton BE, Sutton PD, Ventura SJ, Menacker F, Kirmeyer S, Mathews TJ. Births: Final Data for 2006. National Vital Statistics Report 57 (7), 2009.

11. Engle WA. A recommendation for the definition of "late preterm" (near term) and the birth weight gestational age classification system. Semin Perinatol 30: 2-7, 2006.

12. Tomashek KM, Shapiro-Mendoza CK, Davidoff MJ, Petrini JR. Differences in mortality between late-preterm and term singleton infants in the United States, 1995-2002. J Pediatr 151: 450-456, 2007.

13. Engle WA, Tomashek KM, Wallman C, and the Committee on Fetus and Newborn. "Late-Preterm" Infants: A Population at Risk. Pediatrics 120: 1390-1401, 2007.

14. Himmelmann K, Hagberg G, Beckung E, Hagberg B, Uvebrant P. The changing panorama of cerebral palsy in Sweden. IX. Prevalence and origin in the birth-year period 1995-1998. Acta Paediatr 94: 289-294, 2005.

15. Pietz J, Peter J, Graf R, Rauterberg-Ruland I, Rupp A, Sontheimer D, Linderkamp O. Physical growth and neurodevelopmental outcome of nonhandicapped low-risk children born preterm. Early Human Dev 79: 131-143, 2004.

16. Huddy CL, Johnson A, Hope PL. Educational and behavioural problems in babies of 32-35 weeks gestation. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 85: F23-F28, 2001.

17. Gray RF, Indurkhya A, McCormick MC. Prevalence, stability, and predictors of clinically significant behavior problems in low birth weight children at 3, 5, and 8 years of age. Pediatrics 114: 736-743, 2004.

18. Allen KGD, Harris MA. The role of n-3 fatty acids in gestation and parturition. Exp Biol Med 226: 498-506, 2001.

19. Olsen SF, Hansen HS, Sorensen TIA, Jensen B, Secher NJ, Sommer S, Knudsen LB. Intake of marine fat, rich in (n-3) polyunsaturated fatty acids, may increase birthweight by prolonging gestation. Lancet 2: 367-369, 1986.

20. Olsen SF, Hansen HS, Sommer S, Jensen B, Sorensen TIA, Secher NJ, Zachariassen P. Gestational age in relation to marine n-3 fatty acids in maternal erythrocytes: A study in the Faroe Islands and Denmark. Am J Obstet Gynecol 164: 1203-1209, 1991.

21. Olsen SF, Sorensen JD, Secher NJ, Hedegaard M, Henriksen TB, Hansen HS, Grant A. Randomized controlled trial of effect of fish-oil supplementation on pregnancy duration. Lancet 339: 1003-1007, 1992.

22. Williams MA, Zingheim RW, King IB, Zebelman AM. Omega-3 fatty acids in maternal erythrocytes and risk of preeclampsia. Epidemiol 6: 232-237, 1995.

23. Bulstra-Ramakers MT, Huisjes HJ, Visser GH. The effects of 3 g eicosapentaenoic acid daily on recurrence of intrauterine growth retardation and pregnancy induced hypertension. BJOG 102: 123-126, 1995.

24. Olsen SF, Secher NJ, Tabor A, Weber T, Walker JJ, Gluud C. Randomised clinical trials of fish oil supplementation in high risk pregnancies. BJOG 107: 382-395, 2000.

25. Olsen SF, Osterdal ML, Salvig JD, Weber T, Tabor A, Secher NJ. Duration of pregnancy in relation to fish oil supplementation and habitual fish intake: a randomized clinical trial with fish oil. Eur J Clin Nutr 61: 976-985, 2007.

26. Olsen SF, Secher HJ. Low consumption of seafood in early pregnancy as a risk factor for preterm delivery: prospective cohort study. Br Med J 324: 447-450, 2002.

27. Goyens PLL, Spilker ME, Zock, PL, Katan, MB, Mensik, RP. Conversion of  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid in humans is influenced by the absolute amount of  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid and linoleic acid in the diet and not by their ratio. Am J Clin Nutr 84:44-53, 2006.

28. Harper CR, Edwards MJ, DeFilipis AP, Jacobson TA. Flaxseed oil increases the plasma concentration of cardioprotective (n-3) fatty acids in humans. J Nutr 136: 83-87, 2006.

29. Arterburn LM, Hall EB, Oken H. Distribution, interconversion, and dose response of n-3 fatty acids in humans. Am J Clin Nutr 83 (suppl) 1467S-1476S, 2006.

30. Smuts CM, Huang M, Mundy D, Plasse T, Major S, Carlson SE. A randomized trial of docosahexaenoic acid supplementation during the third trimester of pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol. 101: 469-479, 2003.

31. Reece MS, McGregor JA, Allen KGD, Harris MA. Maternal and perinatal long chain fatty acids: possible roles in preterm birth. Am J Obstet Gynecol 176: 907-914, 1997.

32. Al MDM, van Houwelingen AC, Hornstra G. Long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids, pregnancy, and pregnancy outcome. Am J Clin Nutr 71: 285S-291S, 2000.

33. Kesmodel U, Olsen SF, Salvig JD. Marine n-3 fatty acid and calcium intake in relation to pregnancy induced hypertension, intrauterine growth retardation, and preterm delivery. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 76: 38-44, 1996.

34. Olsen SF, Hansen HS, Secher NJ, Jensen B, Sandstrom B. Gestation length and birth weight in relation to intake of marine n-3 fatty acids. Br J Nutr 73: 397-404, 1995.

35. Helland IB, Saugstad OD, Smith L, Saarem K, Solvoll K, Ganes T, Drevon CA. Similar effects on infants of n-3 and n-6 fatty acid supplementation to pregnant and lactating women. Pediatrics 108: e82, 2001.

36. Dunstan JA, Mori TA, Barden A, Beilin LJ, Holt PG, Calder PC, Taylor AL, Prescott SL. Effects of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids supplementation in pregnancy in maternal and fetal erythrocyte fatty acid composition. Eur J Clin Nutr 58: 429-437, 2004.

37. Knudsen VK, Hansen HS, Osterdal ML, Mikkelsen TB, Olsen SF. Fish oil in various doses or flax oil in pregnancy and timing of spontaneous delivery: a randomized controlled trial. BJOG 113: 536-543, 2006.

38. Krauss-Etschmann S, Shadid R, Campoy C, Hoster E, Demmelmair H, Jiminez M, Gil A, Rivero M, Veszpremi B, Decsi T, Koletzko B. Effects of fish-oil and folate supplementation of pregnant women on maternal and fetal plasma concentrations of docosahexaenoic acid and eicosapentaenoic acid: a European randomized multicenter trial. Am J Clin Nutr 85: 1392-1400, 2007.

39. Makrides M, Duley L, Olsen SF. Marine oil, and other prostaglandin precursor, supplements for pregnancy uncomplicated by preeclampsia or intrauterine growth restriction. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 3:CD003402, 2006.

40. Szajewska H, Horvath A, Koletzko. Effects of n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation of women with low-risk pregnancies on pregnancy outcomes and growth measures at birth: a meta-analysis of randomized trials. Am J Clin Nutr 83: 1337-1344, 2006.

41. Jensen CL. Effects of n-3 fatty acids during pregnancy and lactation. Am J Clin Nutr 83: 1452S-1457S, 2006.

42. Horvath A, Koletzko B, Szajewska H. Effect of supplementation of women in high-risk pregnancies with long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids on pregnancy outcomes and growth measures at birth: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Br J Nutr 98: 253-259, 2007.

43. Junqueira LC, Zugaib M, Montes GS, Toledo OM, Krisztán RM, Shigihara KM. Morphologic and histochemical evidence for the occurrence of collagenolysis and for the role of neutrophilic polymorphonuclear leukocytes during cervical dilation. Am J Obstet Gynecol 138: 273-81, 1980.

44. Bokström H, Brännström M, Alexandersson M, Norström A. Leukocyte subpopulations in the human uterine cervical stroma at early and term pregnancy. Hum Reprod 12: 586-590, 1997.

45. Thomson A, Telfer J, Young A, Campbell S, Stewart C, Cameron I, Greer I, Norman J. Leukocytes infiltrate the myometrium during human parturition: further evidence that labour is an inflammatory process. Human Reproduction 14: 229-236, 1999.

46. Chan EC, Fraser S, Yin S, Yeo G, Kwek K, Fairclough RJ, Smith R. Human myometrial genes are differentially expressed in labor: a suppression subtractive hybridization study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87: 2435-2441, 2002.

47. Aguan K, Carvajal JA, Thompson LP, Weiner CP. Application of a functional genomics approach to identify differentially expressed genes in human myometrium during pregnancy and labour. Mol Hum Reprod 6: 1141-1145, 2000.

48. Havelock JC, Keller P, Muleba N, Mayhew BA, Casey BM, Rainey WE, Word RA. Human myometrial gene expression before and during parturition. Biol Reprod 72: 707-719, 2005.

49. Esplin MS, Fausett MB, Peltier MR, Hamblin S, Silver RM, Branch DW, Adashi EY, Whiting D. The use of cDNA microarray to identify differentially expressed labor-

associated genes within the human myometrium during labor, Am J Obstet Gynecol 193: 404-413, 2005.

50. Haddad R, Tromp G, Kuivaniemi H, Chaiworapongsa T, Kim YM, Mazor M, Romero R. Human spontaneous labor without histologic chorioamnionitis is characterized by an acute inflammation gene expression signature, Am J Obstet Gynecol 195: 394 e1-24, 2006.

51. Bollopragada S, Youssef R, Jordan F, Greer I, Norman J, Nelson S. Term labor is associated with a core inflammatory response in human fetal membranes, myometrium, and cervix. Am J Obstet Gynecol 200: 104.e1-11, 2009.

52. Keelan JA, Marvin KW, Sato TA, Coleman M, McCowan LM, Mitchell MD. Cytokine abundance in placental tissues: evidence of inflammatory activation in gestational membranes with term and preterm parturition. Am J Obstet Gynecol 181: 1530-6, 1999.

53. Achard D, Gilbert M, Benistant C, Slama SB, DeWitt DL, Smith WL, Lagarde M. Eicosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic acids reduce PGH synthase 1 expression in bovine aortic endothelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 241: 513-518, 1997.

54. Singh J, Hamid R, Reddy BS. Dietary fat and colon cancer: modulation of cyclooxygenase-2 by types and amount of dietary fat during the postinitiation stage of colon carcinogenesis. Cancer Res 57: 3465-3470, 1997.

55. Siess W, Roth P, Scherer B, Kurzmann I, Böhlig B, Weber PC. Plateletmembrane fatty acids, platelet aggregation, and thromboxane formation during a mackerel diet. Lancet 1: 441-444, 1980.

56. Goodnight SH Jr, Harris WS, Connor WE, Illingworth DR. Polyunsaturated fatty acids, hyperlipidemia, and thrombosis. Arteriosclerosis 2: 87-113, 1982.

57. Corey EJ, Shih C, Cashman JR. Docosahexaenoic is a strong inhibitor of prostaglandin but not leukotriene biosynthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 80: 3581-3584, 1983.

58. Marshall PJ, Kulmacz RJ. Prostaglandin H synthase: distinct binding sites for cyclooxygenase and peroxidase substrates. Arch Biochem Biophys 266: 162-170, 1988.

59. Huang MC, Craig-Schmidt MC. Arachidonate and docosahexaenoate added to infant formula influence fatty acid composition and subsequent eicosanoid production in neonatal pigs. J Nutr 126: 2199-2208, 1996.

60. Hansen-Petrik MB, McEntee MF, Johnson BJ, Obukowicz MG, Whelan J. Highly unsaturated (n-3) fatty acids, but not  $\alpha$ -linolenic, conjugated linolenic or  $\gamma$ -linolenic acids, reduce tumorigenesis in Ap-cMin/+ mice. J Nutr 130: 2434-2442, 2000.

61. Perez MA, Hansen RA, Harris, MA, Allen, KGD. Dietary docosahexaenoic acid alters pregnant rat reproductive tissue prostaglandin and matrix metalloproteinase production. J Nutr Biochem 17: 446-453, 2006.

62. Conquer JA, Holub BJ. Dietary docosahexaenoic acid as a source of eicosapentaenoic acid in vegetarians and omnivores. Lipids 32: 341-345, 1997.

63. Ikeda I, Wakamatsu K, Inayoshi A, Imaizumi K, Sugano M, Yazawa K. αlinolenic, eicosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic acids affect lipid metabolism differently in rats. J Nutr 124: 1898-1906, 1994.

64. Olson DM, Mijovic JE, Sadowsky DW. Control of human parturition. Seminars in Perinatology 19: 52-63, 1995.

65. Zahner G, Harendza S, Muller E, Wolf G, Thaiss F, Stahl RA. Prostaglandin  $E_2$  stimulates expression of matrix metalloproteinase 2 in cultured rat mesangial cells. Kidney Int 51: 1116-1123, 1997.

66. Ito H, Duxbury M, Benoit E, Clancy TE, Zinner MA, Ashley SW, Whang EE. Prostaglandin  $E_2$  enhances pancreatic cancer invasiveness through an Ets-1-dependent induction of matrix metalloproteinase-2. Cancer Res 64: 7439-7446, 2004.

67. Callejas NA, Casado M, Diaz-Guerra MJ, Bosca L, Martin-Sanz P. Expression of cyclooxygenase-2 promotes the release of matrix metalloproteinase-2 and -9 in fetal rat hepatocytes. Hepatology 33: 860-867, 2001.

68. Faisal Kahn KM, Howe, LR, Falcone DJ. Extracellular matrix-induced cyclooxygenase-2 regulates macrophage proteinase expression. J Biol Chem 279: 22039-22046, 2004.

69. Lindsey JD, Kashiwagi K, Boyle D, Kashiwagi F, Firestein GS, Weinreb RN. Prostaglandins increase proMMP-1 and proMMP-3 secretion by human ciliary muscle cells. Curr Eye Res 15: 869-875, 1996.

70. Weinreb RN, Kashiwagi K, Kashiwagi F, Tsukahara S, Lindsey JD. Prostaglandins increase matrix metalloproteinase release from human ciliary smooth muscle cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 38: 2772-2780, 1997.

71. McLaren J, Taylor DJ, Bell SC. Prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub>-dependent production of latent matrix metalloproteinase-9 in cultures of human fetal membranes. Molecular Human Reproduction 6: 1033-1040, 2000.

72. Ulug U, Goldman S, Ben-Shlomo I, Shalev E. Matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-2 and MMP-9 and their inhibitor, TIMP-1, in human term deciduas and fetal membranes:
the effect of prostaglandin  $F_{2\alpha}$  and indomethacin. Mol Human Reproduction 7: 1187-1193, 2001.

73. Cawston TE. Metalloproteinase inhibitors and the prevention of connective tissue breakdown. Pharmacol Ther 70: 163-182, 1996.

74. Parry S, Strauss JF 3<sup>rd</sup>. Premature rupture of the fetal membranes. N Engl J Med 338: 663-670, 1998.

75. Vadillo-Ortega F, Gonzalez-Avila G, Selman M, Karchmer S, Meraz N, Ayala A. Collagen metabolism in premature rupture of membranes. Obstet Gynecol 75: 84-88, 1990.

76. Uchide K, Ueno H, Inoue M. Matrix metalloproteinases-9 and tensile strength of fetal membranes in uncomplicated labor. Obstet Gynecol 95: 851-855, 2000.

77. Vadillo-Ortega F, Hernandez A, Gonzalez-Avila G, Bermejo L, Iwata K, Strauss JF 3<sup>rd</sup>. Increased matrix metalloproteinase activity and reduced tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 levels in amniotic fluids from pregnancies complicated by premature rupture of the membranes, Am J Obstet Gynecol 174: 1371-1376, 1996.

78. Dale PO, Tanbo T, Bendvold E, Moe N. Duration of the latency period in preterm premature rupture of the membranes: maternal and neonatal consequences of expectant management. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 30: 257-262, 1989.

79. Athayde N, Edwin SS, Romero R, Gomez R, Maymon E, Pacora P, Menon R. A role for matrix metalloproeinase-9 in spontaneous rupture of the fetal membranes. Am J Obstet Gynecol 79: 1248-1253, 1998.

80. Watkins BA, Xu H, Turek JJ. Linoleate impairs collagen synthesis in primary cultures of avian chondrocytes. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 212: 153-159, 1996.

81. Varga J, Diaz-Perez A, Rosenbloom J, Jimenez SA. PGE<sub>2</sub> causes a coordinate decrease in the steady-state level of fibronectin and types I and III procollagen mRNAs in normal human dermal fibroblasts. Biochim Biophys Res Commun 147: 1282-1288, 1987.

82. Ulmsten U. Aspects on ripening of the cervix and induction of labor by intracervical application of PGE2 in viscous gel. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand Suppl 84: 5-9, 1979.

83. O'Brien WF, Knuppel RA, Cohen GR. Plasma prostaglandin metabolite levels after use of prostaglandin  $E_2$  gel for cervical ripening. Am J Obstet Gynecol 155: 1037-1040, 1986.

84. Liggins G. Cervical ripening as an inflammatory reaction. In: D. Ellwood and A. Anderson, Editors, The cervix in pregnancy and labour, Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh (1981), pp. 1-9.

85. Tschugguel W, Schneeberger C, Lass H, Stonek F, Zaghlula M, Czerwenka K, Schatten C, Kaider A, Husslein P, Huber J. Human cervical ripening is associated with an increase in cervical inducible nitric oxide synthase expression. Biology of Reproduction 60: 1367-1372, 1999.

86. Sennstrom MKB, Brauner A, Lu Y, Granström LMM, Malmström AL, Ekman GE. Interleukin-8 is a mediator of the final cervical ripening in humans. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 74: 89-92, 1997.

87. Peveri P, Walz A, Dewald B, Bagginolino M. A novel neutrophil activating factor produced by human mononuclear phagocytes. J Exp Med 167: 1547-1559, 1988.

88. Foster SJ, Aked DM, Schroder JM, Christophers E. Acute inflammatory effects of a monocyte-derived neutrophil activating peptide in rabbit skin. Immunology 67: 181-183, 1989.

89. Colditz IG. Effect of exogenous prostaglandin  $E_2$  and actinomycin D on plasma leakage induced by neutrophil activating peptide-1/interleukin-8. Immunol Cell Biol 68: 397-403, 1990.

90. Kelly RW. Inflammatory mediators and cervical ripening. J Reprod Immunol 57: 217-224, 2002.

91. Weppelmann B, Hoppen HO, Gethmann U, Schuster E. Plasma levels of prostaglandin metabolites during spontaneous delivery. Adv Prostaglandin Thromboxane Res 8: 1409-1411, 1980.

92. Husslein P, Sinzinger H. Concentration of 13,14-dihydro-15-ketoprostaglandin  $E_2$  in the maternal peripheral plasma during labour of spontaneous onset. BJOG 91: 228-231, 1984.

93. Noort WA, van Bulck B, Vereecken A, de Zwart FA, Keirse MJNC. Changes in plasma levels of  $PGF_{2\alpha}$  and  $PGI_2$  metabolites at and after delivery at term. Prostaglandins 37: 3-12, 1989.

94. Lindell JO, Kindahl H, Jansson L, Edqvist LE. Post-partum release of prostaglandin  $F_{2\alpha}$  and uterine involution in the cow. Theriogenology 17: 237-245, 1982.

95. Fredriksson G. Release of  $PGF_{2\alpha}$  during parturition and the postpartum period in the ewe. Theriogenology 24: 331-335, 1985.

96. Sertich PL, Waston ED. Plasma concentrations of 13,14-dihydro-15ketoprostaglandin  $F_{2\alpha}$  in mares during uterine involution. JAMA 201: 434-437, 1992.

97. Lindell JO, Kindahl H. Exogenous prostaglandin  $F_{2\alpha}$  promotes uterine involution in the cow. Acta Vet Scand 24: 269-274, 1983.

98. Okuda K, Gaona WA, Sato K. Effects of gonadotropin releasing hormone and  $PGF_{2\alpha}$  on the reproductive performance in postpartum cows. Theriogenology 29: 823-833, 1988.

99. Melendez P, McHale J, Bartolome J, Archbald LF, Donovan GA. Uterine involution and fertility of Holstein cows subsequent to early postpartum  $PGF_{2\alpha}$  treatment for acute puerperal metritis. J Dairy Sci 87: 3238-3246, 2004.

100. Ramoun AA, Darweish SA, Abou El-Ghait HA, Fattouh el-SM. Effect of enhancement of uterine involution and earlier initiation of post-partum cyclicity on the reproductive performance of buffalo. Reprod Fertil Dev 18: 545-550, 2006.

101. Gündüz MC, Kaşikçi G, Kaya HH. The effect of oxytocin and  $PGF_{2\alpha}$  on the uterine involution and pregnancy rates in postpartum Arabian mares. Anim Reprod Sci 104: 257-263, 2008.

102. Bygdeman M, Eliasson R. A comparative study on the effect of different prostaglandin compounds on the motility of the isolated human myometrium. Med Exp Int J Exp Med 9: 409-415, 1963.

103. Bygdeman M, Eliasson R. The effect of prostaglandin from human seminal fluid on the motility of the nonpregnant human uterus in vitro. Acta Physiol Scand 59: 43-51, 1963.

104. Bygdeman M, Kwon S, Wiqvist N. The effect of prostaglandin  $E_1$  on human pregnant myometrium in vivo. In: Prostaglandins, Proc. 2nd Nobel Symp., Stockholm, June 1966, ed. by S. Bergström and B. Samuelsson, pp. 93-96, Almqvist and Wiksell, Stockholm; Interscience, New York, 1967.

105. Karim SM, Hillier K, Somers K, Trussell RR. The effects of prostaglandins  $E_2$  and  $F_{2\alpha}$  administered by different routes on uterine activity and the cardiovascular system in pregnant and non-pregnant women. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw 78: 172-179, 1971.

106. Karim SM. Effects of oral administration of prostaglandins  $E_2$  and  $F_{2\alpha}$  on the human uterus. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw 78: 289-293, 1971.

107. Zuckerman H, Reiss U, Rubinstein I. Inhibition of human premature labor by indomethacin. Obstet Gynecol 44: 787-792, 1974.

108. Wiqvist N, Lundström V, Gréen K. Premature labor and indomethacin. Prostaglandins 10: 515-526, 1975.

109. Salmon JA, Amy JJ. Levels of prostaglandin  $F_{2\alpha}$  in amniotic fluid during pregnancy and labour. Prostaglandins 4: 523-528. 1973.

110. Keirse MJNC, Flint APF, Turnbull AC. F prostaglandins in amniotic fluid during pregnancy and labour. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw 81: 131-135, 1974.

111. Hillier K, Calder AA, Embrey MP. Concentrations of prostaglandin  $F_{2a}$  in amniotic fluid and plasma in spontaneous and induced labours. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw 81: 257-263, 1974.

112. Green K, Bygdeman M, Toppozada M, Wiqvist N. The role of prostaglandin  $F_{2a}$  in human parturition. Endogenous plasma levels of 15-keto-13,14-dihydro-prostaglandin  $F_{2a}$  during labour. Am J Obstet Gynecol 120: 25-31, 1974.

113. Dray F, Frydman R. Primary prostaglandin in amniotic fluid in pregnancy and spontaneous labor. Am J Obstet Gynecol 126: 13-19, 1976.

114. Keirse MJNC, Mitchell MD, Turnbull AC. Changes in prostaglandin F and 13,14dihydro-15-keto prostaglandin F concentrations in amniotic fluid at the onset of and during labour. BJOG 84: 743-746, 1977.

115. Keirse MJNC, Hicks BR, Mitchell MD, Turnbull AC. Increase of the prostaglandin precursor, arachidonic acid, in amniotic fluid during spontaneous labour. BJOG 84: 937-940, 1977.

116. Romero R, Munoz H, Gomez R, Parra M, Polanco M, Valverde V, Hasbun J, Garrido J, Ghezzi F, Mazor M, Tolosa JE, Mitchell MD. Increase in prostaglandin bioavailability precedes the onset of human parturition. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 54: 187-191, 1996.

117. Knox IC Jr, Hoerner JK. The role of infection in premature rupture of the membranes. Am J Obstet Gynecol 59: 190-194, 1950.

118. Goldenberg RL, Hauth JC, Andrews WW. Intrauterine infection and preterm delivery. N Engl J Med 342: 1500-1507, 2000.

119. Romero R, Mazor M. Infection and preterm labor. Clin Obstet Gynecol 31: 553-584, 1988.

120. Steinborn A, Kühnert M, Halberstadt E. Immunomodulating cytokines induce term and preterm parturition. J Perinat Med 24: 381-390, 1996.

121. Gomez R, Romero R, Edwin SS, David C. Pathogenesis of preterm labor and preterm premature rupture of membranes associated with intraamniotic infection. Infect Dis Clin North Am 11: 135-176, 1997.

122. Arntzen KJ, Kjollesdal AM, Halgunset J, Vatten L, Austgulen R. TNF, IL-1, IL-6, IL-8 and soluble TNF receptors in relation to chorioamnionitis and premature labor. J Perinat Med 26: 17-26, 1998.

123. Yoon BH, Romero R, Jun JK, Maymon E, Gomez R, Mazor M, Park JS. An increase in fetal plasma cortisol but not dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate is followed by the onset of preterm labor in patients with preterm premature rupture of the membranes. Am J Obstet Gynecol 179: 1107-1114, 1998.

124. Romero R, Mazor M, Wu YK, Sirtori M, Oyarzun E, Mitchell MD, Hobbins JC. Infection in the pathogenesis of preterm labor. Semin Perinatol 12: 262-279, 1988.

125. Lopez-Bernal A, Hansell DJ, Canete Soler RC, Keeling JW, Turnbull AC. Prostaglandins, chorioamnionitis and preterm labor. BJOG 94: 1156-1158, 1987.

126. Lopez-Bernal A, Hansell DJ, Khong TY, Keeling JW, Turnbull AC. Prostaglandin E production by the fetal membranes in unexplained preterm labour and preterm labour associated with chorioamnionitis. BJOG 96: 1133-1139, 1989.

127. Romero R, Emamian M, Wan M, Quintero R, Hobbins JC, Mitchell MD. Prostaglandin concentrations in amniotic fluid of women with intra-amniotic infection and preterm labor. Am J Obstet Gynecol 157: 1461-1467, 1987.

128. Reece MS, McGregor JA, Allen KGD, Mathias MM, Harris MA. Prostaglandins in selected reproductive tissues in pre-term and full term gestations. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 55: 303-307, 1996.

129. Sadovsky Y, Nelson DM, Muglia LJ, Gross GA, Harris KC, Koki A, Masferrer JL, Olson LM. Effective diminution of amniotic prostaglandin production by selective inhibitors of cyclooxygenase type 2. Am J Obstet Gynecol 182: 370-376, 2000.

130. Schwarz BE, Schultz FM, Macdonald PC, Johnston JM. Initiation of human parturition. III. Fetal membrane content of prostaglandin E2 and F2alpha precursor. Obstet Gynecol 46: 564-568, 1975.

131. Kang IS, Siler-Khodr TM. Effect of exogenous arachidonic acid and enzyme inhibitors on placental prostanoid production. Placenta 14: 341-353, 1993.

132. Siler-Khodr TM, Forman J, Sorem KA. Dose-related effect of IGF-I on placental prostanoid release. Prostaglandins 49: 1-14, 1995.Karim SM. The role of prostaglandins in human parturition. Proc Roy Soc Med 64: 10-12, 1971.

133. Knapp HR, Reilly IAG, Alessandrini P, FitzGerald GA. In vitro indexes of platelet and vascular function during fish-oil administration in patients with atherosclerosis. N Engl J Med 314: 937-942, 1986.

134. Leaf A, Weber PC. Cardiovascular effects of n-3 fatty acids. N Engl J Med 318: 549-547, 1988.

135. Whelan J, McEntee. Dietary (n-6) PUFA and intestinal tumorigenesis. J Nutr 134: 34218-3426S, 2004.

136. Cook JL, Zaragoza DB, White NM, Randall CL, Olson DM. Progesterone and prostaglandin H synthase-2 involvement in alcohol-induced preterm labor in mice. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 23: 1793-1800, 1999.

137. Mijovic JE, Zakar T, Zaragoza DB, Olson DM. Tyrphostins inhibit lipopolysaccharide induced preterm labor in mice. J Perinat Med 30: 297-300, 2002.

138. Cook JL, Shallow MC, Zaragoza DB, Anderson KI, Olson DM. Mouse placental prostaglandins are associated with uterine activation and the timing of birth. Biol Reprod 68: 579-587, 2003.

139. Horton EW. Hypotheses on physiological roles of prostaglandins. Physiol Rev 49: 122-161, 1969.

140. Gardiner PJ, Collier HO. Specific receptors for prostaglandins in airways. Prostaglandins 19: 819-841, 1980.

141. Kennedy I, Coleman RA, Humphrey PP, Levy GP, Lumley P. Studies on the characterisation of prostanoid receptors: a proposed classification. Prostaglandins 24: 667-689, 1982.

142. Narumiya S, Toda N. Different responsiveness of prostaglandin D2-sensitive systems to prostaglandin D2 and its analogues. Br J Pharmacol 85: 367-375, 1985.

143. Brodt-Eppley J, Myatt L. Prostaglandin receptors in lower segment myometrium during gestation and labor. Obstet Gynecol 93: 89-93, 1999.

144. Smith GC, Wu WX, Nathanielsz PW. Effects of gestational age and labor on expression of prostanoid receptor genes in baboon uterus. Biol Reprod 64:1131-1137, 2001.

145. Leaf A, Kang JX, Xiao Y-F, Billman GE. Clinical prevention of sudden cardiac death by n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and mechanism of prevention of arrhythmias by n-3 fish oils. Circulation 107: 2645-2652, 2003.

146. Leaf A, Xiao YF, Kang JX, Billman GE. Prevention of sudden cardiac death by n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. Pharmacol Ther 98: 355-377, 2003. 147. Leaf A, Xiao YF, Kang JX, Billman GE. Membrane effects of the n-3 fish oil fatty acids, which prevent fatal ventricular arrhythmias. J Membr Biol 206: 129-139, 2005.

148. McLennan PL, Abeywardena MY, Charnock JS. Dietary fish oil prevents ventricular fibrillation following coronary artery occlusion and reperfusion. Am Heart J 116: 709-717, 1988.

149. McLennan PL. Relative effects of dietary saturated, monounsaturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids on cardiac arrhythmias in rats. Am J Clin Nutr 57: 207-212, 1993.

150. McLennan PL, Bridle TM, Abeywardena MY, Charnock JS. Dietary lipid modulation of ventricular fibrillation threshold in the marmoset monkey. Am Heart J 123: 1555-1561, 1992.

151. Billman GE, Hallaq H, Leaf A. Prevention of ischemia-induced ventricular fibrillation by omega 3 fatty acids. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91: 4427-4430,1994.

152. Billman GE, Kang JX, Leaf A. Prevention of ischemia-induced cardiac sudden death by n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in dogs. Lipids 32: 1161-1168, 1997.

153. Billman GE, Kang JX, Leaf A. Prevention of sudden cardiac death by dietary pure omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in dogs. Circulation 99: 2452-2457, 1999.

154. Kang JX, Leaf A. Effects of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids on the contraction of neonatal rat cardiac myocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 91: 9886-9890, 1994.

155. Kang JX, Leaf A. Prevention and termination of beta-adrenergic agonist-induced arrhythmias by free polyunsaturated fatty acids in neonatal rat cardiac myocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 208: 629-636, 1995.

156. Kang JX, Leaf A. Protective effects of free polyunsaturated fatty acids on arrhythmias induced by lysophosphatidylcholine or palmitoylcarnitine in neonatal rat cardiac myocytes. Eur J Pharmacol 297: 97-106, 1996.

157. Li Y, Kang JX, Leaf A. Differential effects of various eicosanoids on the production or prevention of arrhythmias in cultured neonatal rat cardiac myocytes. Prostaglandins 54: 511-530, 1997.

158. Xiao YF, Kang JX, Morgan JP, Leaf A. Blocking effects of polyunsaturated fatty acids on Na+ channels of neonatal ventricular myocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92: 11000-11004, 1995.

159. Lundbaek JA, Birn P, Girshman J, Hansen AJ, Andersen OS. Membrane stiffness and channel function. Biochemistry 35: 3825-3830,1996.

160. Lundbaek JA, Andersen OS. Spring constants for channel-induced lipid bilayer deformations. Estimates using gramicidin channels. Biophys J 76: 889-895, 1999.

161. Lundbaek JA, Birn P, Hansen AJ, Søgaard R, Nielsen C, Girshman J, Bruno MJ, Tape SE, Egebjerg J, Greathouse DV, Mattice GL, Koeppe RE 2<sup>nd</sup>, Andersen OS. Regulation of sodium channel function by bilayer elasticity: the importance of hydrophobic coupling. Effects of Micelle-forming amphiphiles and cholesterol. J Gen Physiol 123: 599-621, 2004.

162. Bruno MJ, Koeppe RE 2<sup>nd</sup>, Andersen OS. Docosahexaenoic acid alters bilayer elastic properties. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104: 9638-9643, 2007.

163. Börjesson SI, Hammarström S, Elinder F. Lipoelectric modification of ion channel voltage gating by polyunsaturated fatty acids. Biophys J 95: 2242-2253, 2008.

164. Santoli D, Zurier RB. Prostaglandin E precursor fatty acids inhibit human IL-2 production by a prostaglandin E-independent mechanism. J Immunol 143: 1303-1309, 1989.

165. Santoli D, Phillips PD, Colt TL, Zurier RB. Suppression of interleukin 2dependent human T cell growth in vitro by prostaglandin E (PGE) and their precursor fatty acids. Evidence for a PGE-independent mechanism of inhibition by the fatty acids. J Clin Invest 85: 424-432, 1990.

166. Calder PC, Bevan SJ, Newsholme EA. The inhibition of T-lymphocyte proliferation by fatty acids is via an eicosanoid-independent mechanism. Immunology 75: 108-115, 1992.

167. Zurier RB, Rossetti RG, Seiler CM, Laposata M. Human peripheral blood T lymphocyte proliferation after activation of the T cell receptor: effects of unsaturated fatty acids. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 60: 371-375, 1999.

168. Simons K, Ikonen E. Functional rafts in cell membranes. Nature 387: 569-572, 1997.

169. Melkonian KA, Ostermeyer AG, Chen JZ, Roth MG, Brown DA. Role of lipid modifications in targeting proteins to detergent-resistant membrane rafts. Many raft proteins are acylated, while few are prenylated. J Biol Chem 274: 3910-3917, 1999.

170. Stulnig TM, Berger M, Sigmund T, Raederstorff D, Stockinger H, Waldhäusl W. Polyunsaturated fatty acids inhibit T cell signal transduction by modification of detergent-insoluble membrane domains. J Cell Biol 143: 637-644, 1998.

171. Stulnig TM, Huber J, Leitinger N, Imre EM, Angelisova P, Nowotny P, Waldhäusl W. Polyunsaturated eicosapentaenoic acid displaces proteins from membrane rafts by altering raft lipid composition. J Biol Chem 276: 37335-37340, 2001.

172. Zeyda M, Staffler G, Horejsi V, Waldhäusl W, Stulnig TM. LAT displacement from lipid rafts as a molecular mechanism for the inhibition of T cell signaling by polyunsaturated fatty acids. J Biol Chem 277: 28418-28423, 2002.

173. Webb Y, Hermida-Matsumoto L, Resh MD. Inhibition of protein palmitoylation, raft localization, and T cell signaling by 2-bromopalmitate and polyunsaturated fatty acids. J Biol Chem 275: 261-270, 2000.

174. Schley PD, Brindley DN, Field CJ. (n-3) PUFA alter raft lipid composition and decrease epidermal growth factor receptor levels in lipid rafts of human breast cancer cells. J Nutr 137:548-553, 2007.

175. Fan YY, McMurray DN, Ly LH, Chapkin RS. Dietary (n-3) polyunsaturated fatty acids remodel mouse T-cell lipid rafts. J Nutr 133: 1913-1920, 2003.

176. Fan YY, Ly LH, Barhoumi R, McMurray DN, Chapkin RS. Dietary docosahexaenoic acid suppresses T cell protein kinase C theta lipid raft recruitment and IL-2 production. J Immunol 173: 6151-6160, 2004.

177. Dale HH. On some physiological actions of ergot. J Physiol (Lond) 34: 163-206, 1906.

178. Wilson L, Parsons MT, Flouret G. Inhibition of spontaneous uterine contractions during the last trimester in pregnant baboons by an oxytocin antagonist. Am J Obstet Gynecol 163: 1875-1882, 1990.

179. Owiny JR, Mitchell M, Nathanielsz PW. Effect of 48-hour infusion of the synthetic oxytocin antagonist, [1-beta-mercapto(beta- $(CH_2)_5)^1(OMe)Tyr^2$ ,  $Orn^8$ ]-oxytocin, on myometrial activity of pregnant sheep at 139 – 140 days of gestation. Biol Reprod 47: 436-440, 1992.

180. Hirst JJ, Haluska GJ, Cook MJ, Novy MJ. Plasma oxytocin and nocturnal uterine activity: maternal but not fetal concentrations increase progressively during late pregnancy and delivery in rhesus monkeys. Am J Obstet Gynecol 169: 415-422, 1993.

181. Mecenas CA, Giussani DA, Owiny JR, Jenkins SL, Wu WX, Honnebier BO, Lockwood CJ, Kong L, Guller S, Nathanielsz PW. Production of premature delivery rhesus monkeys by androstenedione infusion. Nat Med 2:443-448, 1996.

182. Takahashi K, Diamond F, Bieniarz J, Yen H, Burd L. Uterine contractility and oxytocin sensitivity in preterm, term, and postterm pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 136: 774-779, 1980.

183. Klein U, Fahrenholz F. Reconstitution of the myometrial oxytocin receptor into proteoliposomes. Dependence of oxytocin binding on cholesterol. Eur J Biochem 220: 559-567, 1994.

184. Klein U, Gimpl G, Fahrenholz F. Alteration of the myometrial plasma membrane cholesterol content with beta-cyclodextrin modulates the binding affinity of the oxytocin receptor. Biochemistry 34: 13784-13793, 1995.

185. Gimpl G, Burger K, Fahrenholz F. Cholesterol as modulator of receptor function. Biochemistry 36: 10959-10974, 1997.

186. Gimpl G, Burger K, Politowska E, Ciarkowski J, Fahrenholz F. Oxytocin receptors and cholesterol: interaction and regulation. Exp Physiol 85: 41-50, 2000.

187. Gimpl G, Fahrenholz F. Human oxytocin receptors in cholesterol-rich vs. cholesterol-poor microdomains of the plasma membrane. Eur J Biochem 267: 2483-2497, 2000.

188. Bussolati G, Cassoni P. Editorial: the oxytocin/oxytocin receptor system-expect the unexpected. Endocrinology 142: 1377-1379, 2001.

189. Guzzi F, Zanchetta D, Cassoni P, Guzzi V, Francolini M, Parenti M, Chini B. Localization of the human oxytocin receptor in caveolin-1 enriched domains turns the receptor-mediated inhibition of cell growth into a proliferative response. Oncogene 21: 1658-1667, 2002.

190. Rimoldi V, Reversi A, Taverna E, Rosa P, Francolini M, Cassoni P, Parenti M, Chini B. Oxytocin receptor elicits different EGFR/MAPK activation patterns depending on its localization in caveolin-1 enriched domains. Oncogene 22: 6054-6060, 2003.

191. Whittington K, Connors B, King K, Assinder S, Hogarth K, Nicholson H. The effect of oxytocin on cell proliferation in the human prostate is modulated by gonadal steroids: implications for benign prostatic hyperplasia and carcinoma of the prostate. Prostate 67: 1132-1142, 2007.

192. Sargiacomo M, Sudol M, Tang Z, Lisanti MP. Signal transducing molecules and glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol-linked proteins form a caveolin-rich insoluble complex in MDCK cells. J Cell Biol 122: 789-807, 1993.

193. Moffett S, Brown DA, Linder ME. Lipid-dependent targeting of G proteins into rafts. J Biol Chem 275: 2191-2198, 2000.

194. Oh P, Schnitzer JE. Segregation of heterotrimeric G proteins in cell surface microdomains.  $G_q$  binds caveolin to concentrate in caveolae, whereas  $G_i$  and  $G_s$  target lipid rafts by default. Mol Biol Cell 12: 685-698, 2001.

195. Samuel BU, Mohandas N, Harrison T, McManus H, Rosse W, Reid M, Haldar K. The role of cholesterol and glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored proteins of erythrocyte rafts in regulating raft protein content and malarial infection. J Biol Chem 276: 29319-29329, 2001.

196. Quinton TM, Kim S, Jin J, Kunapuli SP. Lipid rafts are required in  $G\alpha_i$  signaling downstream of the P2Y12 receptor during ADP-mediated platelet activation. J Thromb Haemost 3: 1036-1041, 2005.

197. Nini L, Waheed AA, Panicker LM, Czapiga M, Zhang JH, Simonds WF. R7binding protein targets the G protein  $\beta$ 5/R7-regulator of G protein signaling complex to lipid rafts in neuronal cells and brain. BMC Biochem 8: 18, 2007.

198. Kamata K, Manno S, Ozaki M, Takakuwa Y. Functional evidence for presence of lipid rafts in erythrocyte membranes: Gsα in rafts is essential for signal transduction. Am J Hematol 83: 371-375, 2008.

199. Song KS, Sargiacomo M, Galbiati F, Parenti M, Lisanti MP. Targeting of a G alpha subunit ( $G_{i1}\alpha$ ) and c-Src tyrosine kinase to caveolae membranes: clarifying the role of N-myristoylation. Cell Mol Biol 43: 293-303, 1997.

200. Galbiati F, Volonte D, Meani D, Milligan G, Lublin DM, Lisanti MP, Parenti M. The dually acylated NH2-terminal domain of  $G_{i1}\alpha$  is sufficient to target a green fluorescent protein reporter to caveolin-enriched plasma membrane domains. Palmitoylation of caveolin-1 is required for the recognition of dually acylated g-protein alpha subunits in vivo. J Biol Chem 274: 5843-5850, 1999.

201. Guzzi F, Zanchetta D, Chini B, Parenti M. Thioacylation is required for targeting G-protein subunit  $G_{o1}\alpha$  to detergent-insoluble caveolin-containing membrane domains. Biochem J 355: 323-331, 2001.

202. Muszbek L, Laposata M. Covalent modification of proteins by arachidonate and eicosapentaenoate in platelets. J Biol Chem 268: 18243-18248, 1993.

203. Hallak H, Muszbek L, Laposata M, Belmonte E, Brass LF, Manning DR. Covalent binding of arachidonate to G protein alpha subunits of human platelets. J Biol Chem 269: 4713-4716, 1994.

204. Laposata M, Muszbek L. Thioesterification of platelet proteins with saturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids. Lipids Suppl: S217-221, 1996.

205. Pike LJ, Casey L. Localization and turnover of phosphatidylinositol 4,5bisphosphate in caveolin-enriched membrane domains. J Biol Chem 271: 26453-26456, 1996. 206. Pike LJ, Miller JM. Cholesterol depletion delocalizes phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate and inhibits hormone-stimulated phosphatidylinositol turnover. J Biol Chem 273: 22298-22304, 1998.

207. Liu Y, Casey L, Pike LJ. Compartmentalization of phosphatidylinositol 4,5bisphosphate in low-density membrane domains in the absence of caveolin. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 245: 684-690, 1998.

208. Mahammad S, Parmryd I. Cholesterol homeostasis in T cells. Methyl-betacyclodextrin treatment results in equal loss of cholesterol from Triton X-100 soluble and insoluble fractions. Biochim Biophys Acta 1778: 1251-1258, 2008.

209. Ma DW, Seo J, Davidson LA, Callaway ES, Fan YY, Lupton JR, Chapkin RS. n-3 PUFA alter caveolae lipid composition and resident protein localization in mouse colon. FASEB J 18: 1040-1042, 2004.

210. Chen W, Jump DB, Esselman WJ, Busik JV. Inhibition of cytokine signaling in human retinal endothelial cells through modification of caveolae/lipid rafts by docosahexaenoic acid. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 48: 18-26, 2007.

### Chapter 2

### Introduction

The Centers for Disease Control reports that the percentage of infants delivered preterm (< 37 weeks of completed gestation) increased from 10.6% in 1990 to 12.8% in 2006. The percentage of infants born low birth weight (< 2500 g) comprised 8.3% of births in 2006 (1). Shortened gestation and low birth weight are major risk factors for death and morbidity in infants (1-3). Evidence from observational and clinical studies indicate that essential fatty acids of the n-3 and n-6 series may potentially modify gestational duration (4). Early epidemiological studies in Denmark by Olsen and colleagues found a significant increase in gestational duration with increasing maternal erythrocyte long-chain n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (LC n-3 PUFA) (5, 6). In subsequent randomized control trials, LC n-3 PUFA supplementation during pregnancy has been shown to increase gestational duration by 4 to 6 days (7-11). The mechanism remains largely unknown.

Evidence indicates that prostaglandins (PGs) play a key role in initiating and maintaining normal labor (review 12). PGE<sub>2</sub> and PGF<sub>2a</sub> increase at term in laboring women compared with nonlaboring women (13, 14), can activate tissue remodeling matrix metalloproteinases (15-23), mediate cervical ripening (24-26), and induce uterine contractions (27-33). These PG<sub>2</sub>-mediated actions coupled with markedly elevated arachidonic acid (AA) in maternal erythrocytes of women delivering prematurely (34-40), apparent LC n-3 PUFA deficiency in these women (41), and the opposing effects of LC n-3 PUFAs and AA on PG<sub>2</sub> biosynthesis (42-52) have pointed investigators toward a mechanism in which LC n-3 PUFAs prolong pregnancy by suppressing the AA cascade (7, 8, 11). Elevated reproductive tissue cytokine and PG production have been implicated in preterm birth involving intrauterine infection (review 53), but the role of PGs in idiopathic preterm labor is less well defined. In the absence of infection, PG production is lower in women delivering prematurely compared with women delivering at term (54-56). This seems at odds with a mechanism that invokes PG<sub>2</sub> suppression for increased gestational duration with DHA supplementation in expectant women.

Independent of PG biosynthesis, LC n-3 PUFAs have been shown to exert their cardioprotective (57-59) and immunosuppressive (60-64) effects at the level of the plasma membrane. DHA-induced changes in the membrane structure and architecture leading to modulation of ion channels and the displacement of key proteins from lipid raft signaling platforms appear to be the mechanisms of action. Manipulation of the lipid environment has also been shown to modulate the action of oxytocin (65-72), a potent uterotonic hormone (73) involved in the initiation of labor. To complement these observations and demonstrate one potential PG-independent mechanism for lengthened gestation with DHA supplementation, we examined the effect of DHA on oxytocin signaling in pregnant human myometrial smooth muscle cells. The goal of our first specific aim was to define the cell membrane lipid composition and characterize changes in response to the addition of micromolar concentrations of fatty acids (OA, AA, DHA) into the culture media. Our second specific aim was to determine whether incorporation of exogenous fatty acids into the membrane affects oxytocin-mediated signaling events involved in smooth muscle contraction. This aim tested the hypothesis that treatment with

DHA inhibits elaboration of IP3 and mobilization of  $Ca^{+2}$  in response to oxytocin stimulation. Our third specific aim was to examine the effect of DHA treatment on the properties of the oxytocin receptor. This aim tested the hypothesis that DHA does not affect the membrane density or binding affinity of the oxytocin receptor.

### Chapter 3

### **Materials and Methods**

### 3.1 Chemicals

Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM), fetal bovine serum (FBS), trypsin, and other cell culture reagents were acquired from HyClone (Logan, UT). Fatty acid-free, cell culture-tested bovine serum albumin (BSA) (A8806) was obtained from Sigma (St. Louis, MO). Fatty acids and fatty acid methyl ester standards were from Nu-Chek Prep (Elysian, MN). Oxytocin and other compounds were from Sigma. [2-<sup>3</sup>H(N)]myoinositol and [tyrosyl-2,6-<sup>3</sup>H]-oxytocin were from NEN (Boston, MA).

### 3.2 PHM1-41 cell culture

Immortalized pregnant human myometrial cells (PHM1-41) were kindly provided by Dr. BM Sanborn. PHM1-41 cells maintain the morphological characteristics of proliferating smooth muscle cells in culture, express smooth muscle-specific  $\alpha$ -actin, and retain estrogen and oxytocin receptors (74). Cells were grown in DMEM supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FBS in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37°C. The cells were subcultured at 4-day intervals with 0.05% trypsin, 53 mM EDTA in Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS). Cells were between passages 20-25 in our experiments.

### 3.3 Fatty acid supplementation

Stock solutions of the fatty acids 18:1 oleic acid (OA), 20:4 arachidonic acid (AA), and 22:6 docosahexanoic acid (DHA) were prepared in absolute ethanol at a concentration of 0.5 M, purged in argon gas, and stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C. 100 µM fatty acid media was prepared by adding fatty acid free BSA to DMEM to a final BSA concentration of 50 µM then incubating overnight with 2 µl of 0.5 M fatty acid stock solution per 10 ml media. 30 µM and 10 µM fatty acid media were prepared by dilution of 100 µM fatty acid media. 0 µM fatty acid media (BSA-only) served as our control. The final ethanol concentration was adjusted to 0.02% as necessary. For all experiments, the cells were grown in supplemented media 48 hrs after subculture and the treatment continued for 2 more days until the cells were nearly confluent.

# 3.4 Membrane fatty acid extraction and analysis

PHM1-41 cells were seeded in 100 mm plastic tissue culture dishes at ~5.5 x  $10^5$  cells/dish. The cells were harvested after 4 days in culture by rinsing twice with chilled phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and scraping into ice-cold hypotonic buffer (20 mM HEPES, 10 mM EDTA, pH 7.4). Cells were sheared by dounce homogenization and centrifuged at 1000 x g for 20 min at 4°C. The supernatant was centrifuged at 27,000 x g for 20 min at 4°C. Lipids were extracted from the membrane pellet by chloroform:methanol (2:1 v/v) according to the method of Folch et al (75). Methyl esters were prepared by 14% boron trifluoride methanolysis according to the method of Morrison and Smith (76).

Fatty acid composition was determined by gas chromatography on an Agilent 6890 Series GC (Santa Clara, CA) equipped with an autosampler, a J&W Scientific DB-225 (30 m x 0.25 mm I.D.,  $0.15\mu$ m) capillary column (Folsom, CA), and flame ionization detector. The oven temperature was ramped from an initial temperature of 100°C to 167°C at a rate of 10.65°C/min, then raised from 167°C to 206°C at a rate of 2.58°C/min and held for 8 min. Fatty acids were identified by comparing their retention times with those of fatty acid methyl ester standards.

# 3.5 Intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup>

PHM1-41 cells were plated into 35 mm uncoated glass-bottom dishes (MatTek, Ashland MA) at ~8 x  $10^4$  cells/dish. After 4 days in culture, the following procedures were carried out in the dark at room temperature. The cells were washed three times with fluorescence buffer (145 mM NaCl, 5 mM KCl, 1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 0.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 1 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 10 mM HEPES, 5 mM glucose, pH 7.4) and placed in 1 ml of fluorescence buffer. Cells were loaded with 5 µl of DMSO containing 5 µg of Fura-2-acetoxymethylester (Fura-2 AM, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) for 30 min. Cells were then washed three times with fluorescence buffer and allowed to hydrolyze Fura-2 AM for 30 min. Cells were washed three times with fluorescence buffer. An area of the glass-bottom well was selected for imaging and 20-25 individual cells were analyzed for changes in intracellular free calcium [Ca<sup>2+</sup>]<sub>i</sub> in response to 25 nM oxytocin. [Ca<sup>2+</sup>]<sub>i</sub> was measured using an InCyt2 Im2 imaging system with excitation at 340 nm and 380 nm and emission at 510 nm (Intracellular Imaging,

Cincinnati OH). Data are expressed as the average peak increase in  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  per dish and unresponsive cells were excluded from the analysis where indicated.

### 3.6 Phosphatidylinositol turnover

PHM1-41 cells were seeded into six-well tissue culture plates (Corning, Acton, MA) at ~1.2 x  $10^5$  cells/well. After 3 days in culture, cells were labeled with 0.4  $\mu$ M [2-<sup>3</sup>H(N)]-myoinositol in serum-free DMEM for 18 hours at 37°C. The cells were washed twice with PBS then incubated in 1 ml of HBSS containing 10 mM LiCl and 0.1% BSA for 30 min at 37°C. Cells were removed from the incubator and given either 100 nM oxytocin in HBSS or HBSS vehicle. Following 30 min incubation at 37°C, the media was aspirated and 1 ml of 20 mM cold formic acid was added. The cells were incubated for 30 min at 4°C then the acid was neutralized with 370 µl of 150 mM NH<sub>4</sub>OH. Samples were loaded onto AG1-X8 resin (100-200 mesh formate form, Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) columns and glycosylphosphatidyl inositol was eluted with 4 ml of 5 mM sodium borate/60 mM sodium formate. Inositol 1-phosphate (IP) and inositol 1,4-bisphosphate  $(IP_2)$  were eluted together with 4 ml of 0.4 M ammonium formate in 0.1 N formic acid. Inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>) was eluted with 4 ml of 1 M ammonium formate in 0.1 N formic acid. 0.5 ml of each fraction was counted in 5 ml of Scintisafe Econo 1 scintillation cocktail (Fisher, Fairlawn, NJ). Data are expressed as percent increase in dpm of total IPs over basal.

### 3.7 Oxytocin receptor ligand binding assay

PHM1-41 cells were seeded in 100 mm plastic tissue culture dishes at  $\sim 5.5 \times 10^5$  cells/dish. After 4 days in culture, the cells were washed twice with chilled PBS and scraped into ice-cold hypotonic buffer (20 mM HEPES, 10 mM EDTA, pH 7.4). Cells were mechanically disrupted by 4 x 15 sec 25,000-rpm pulses with an Ultra Turrax T8 homogenizer at 4°C. Cell homogenates were centrifuged at 500 x g for 10 min at 4°C and the post-nuclear supernatants were spun at 27,000 x g for 30 min at 4°C. The resulting crude membrane pellets were suspended in 20 mM HEPES buffer (pH 7.4) and stored at - 80°C until use.

On the day of the assay, crude membrane pellets were quickly thawed at  $37^{\circ}$ C and centrifuged at 20,000 x g for 30 min at 4°C. Membrane pellets were resuspended into membrane buffer (50 mM Tris, 10 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, pH 7.4) by homogenizing on ice. [tyrosyl-2,6-<sup>3</sup>H]-oxytocin was diluted in ligand buffer (50 mM Tris, 0.1% BSA, 10 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, pH 7.4). 96-well Multiscreen FB filter plates (Millipore, Bedford, MA) were pre-wet with 100 µl of membrane buffer for 30 min. The wetting buffer was removed by vacuum filtration and 100 µl of membrane sample was added to each well along with 100 µl of appropriate concentrations of [tyrosyl-2,6-<sup>3</sup>H]-oxytocin. Plates were incubated on a slow speed reciprocal shaker for 2 hr at room temperature. The binding reaction was stopped by rapid filtration under vacuum to separate bound ligand from free ligand. The plates were washed twice with 200 µl of cold wash buffer (50 mM Tris, 0.1% BSA, pH 7.4). The filters containing the bound ligand were punched out and total binding was determined by liquid scintillation counting (Scintisafe Econo 1 in Packard Tri-carb

2900TR). Nonspecific binding was determined by carrying out the binding with  $10 \mu M$  of unlabeled oxytocin in the reaction mixture. The level of specific binding was calculated as the difference between total and nonspecific levels of binding.

### 3.8 Oxytocin receptor internalization assay

PHM1-41 cells were seeded into six-well tissue culture plates (Corning) at ~1.2 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/well. After 4 days in culture, cells were washed twice with chilled PBS and incubated for 3 hr at 4°C in 1 mL of Ca<sup>2+</sup> free HBSS containing 5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.1% BSA, and 10 nM [tyrosyl-2,6-<sup>3</sup>H]-oxytocin. Following the 3 hr equilibration at 4°C, the cells were incubated at 37°C for specific time points, the HBSS was removed, the cells were washed twice with chilled HBSS (Ca<sup>2+</sup> free, Mg<sup>2+</sup> free, 0.1% BSA), then washed with 400 µL of membrane wash solution (150 mM NaCl, 50 mM acetic acid, pH 2.8) to collect membrane bound receptors. To collect internalized receptors, cells were next lysed with 400 uL of 1 M HCl and then the HCl was neutralized with 400 µL of 1 M NaOH. Total binding was determined by liquid scintillation counting (Scintisafe Econo 1 in Packard Tri-carb 2900TR). Nonspecific binding wells contained an additional 1 µM of unlabeled oxytocin. The level of specific binding was calculated as the difference between total and nonspecific levels of binding. For each time point, the internalized receptor values are expressed as a percent of total cell-associated (internalized and membrane bound) receptor.

# 3.9 Data and Statistical Analysis

The maximal binding capacity  $(B_{max})$  and affinity  $(K_d)$  were estimated using a GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software, San Diego CA) one-site binding model. Data were analyzed using a SAS/STAT 9.1 (SAS Institute, Cary NC) linear mixed model procedure with day of experiment as a random effect. Numbers of experiment replications are noted in the figure legends. Significance was defined as  $p \leq 0.05$ . Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM.

# **Chapter 4**

### Results

### 4.1 FA incorporation into membrane

To our knowledge, the present study is the first to apply LC n-3 PUFAs to the culture medium of human myometrial myocytes. Various investigators have incubated isolated cardiomyocytes (77-83), vascular myocytes (84-86), and colonocytes (87, 87) using LC n-3 PUFAs bound to albumin at concentrations ranging from 5  $\mu$ M to 214  $\mu$ M and exposure durations ranging from 24 h to 96 h. Our treatment regimen of 10  $\mu$ M to 100  $\mu$ M fatty acid incubation for 48 h falls within the range of these previous reports and we detected minimal impact on cell viability or morphology at these low micromolar concentrations (data not shown).

The addition of exogenous fatty acids to the growth media resulted in incorporation and enrichment of that particular fatty acid in the membrane lipid of PHM1-41 cells (Figure 1). Supplementing cells with 10  $\mu$ M AA resulted in a small, yet significant increase in membrane AA as a proportion of total fatty acids as compared to equimolar BSA supplementation. With 10  $\mu$ M DHA supplementation there was a marked increase in membrane DHA because endogenous DHA is nearly absent in these cells under normal culture conditions. Increasing the concentration of exogenous AA or DHA to 30  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M further enriched the respective fatty acid in the membrane as compared to equimolar BSA supplementation. OA is among the most common membrane fatty acid species in PHM1-41 cells (and the fetal bovine serum in the growth

media), therefore significant enrichment with OA supplementation was not observed at concentrations below 100  $\mu$ M. The incorporation of exogenous fatty acids appeared to be dose dependent as membrane lipids were more enriched at 100  $\mu$ M supplementation than at 10  $\mu$ M supplementation (Figure 2).

Obviously, an increase in the relative proportion of one fatty acid is accompanied by a decrease in the relative proportion of one or more other fatty acids. The relative increases in membrane AA or DHA in polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) supplemented cells came at the expense of endogenous membrane OA. Increases in membrane 16:0 palmitic acid (PA) and 18:0 stearic acid (SA) also contributed to the decrease in membrane OA in PUFA supplemented cells (data not shown). OA accounted for  $30 \pm$ 2.7% of total membrane fatty acids in cells grown in DMEM + 10% FBS. In comparison, OA accounted for  $18.2 \pm 1.6\%$  and  $16.7 \pm 1.6\%$  of total membrane fatty acids in  $30 \mu$ M AA and DHA treated cells and  $15.9 \pm 0.2\%$  and  $16.4 \pm 0.3\%$  in 100  $\mu$ M AA and DHA treated cells, respectively. There is no substantial difference in membrane OA content between 30  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M PUFA treated cells, suggesting that the differences in oxytocin signaling observed between these two concentrations are not due to depletion of OA, but rather due to enrichment of AA or DHA in the membrane.

We are not aware of any fish oil supplementation trials in pregnant women that have characterized myometrial membrane fatty acid composition. Data for maternal erythrocyte phospholipids does exist for a rough comparison. Dunstan et al have reported increases in maternal erythrocyte DHA as a percentage of total fatty acids at 37 weeks gestation, from  $6.6 \pm 0.2\%$  in the control group to  $11.0 \pm 0.2\%$  with fish oil consumption equivalent to one fatty fish meal per day (total of 2.2 g DHA and 1.1 g EPA per day) (89).

In the present study, PHM1-41 membrane DHA composed  $6.7 \pm 0.5\%$  of total fatty acids with 30 µM DHA treatment and  $10.2 \pm 0.5\%$  with 100 µM DHA treatment. Relative proportions of other fatty acids were similar between erythrocytes from women fed fish oil and DHA treated PHM1-41 cells. SA and OA each composed 14-16% of total fatty acids in both erythrocytes and in myocytes treated with 30 µM and 100 µM DHA.

# *4.2 Intracellular* Ca<sup>2+</sup>

We assessed the effect of the changes in membrane composition of PHM1-41 cells by measuring  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  mobilization in response to oxytocin stimulation (Figure 3). The increase in  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  evoked by 25 nM oxytocin was 39% and 57% lower with 100  $\mu$ M AA and 100  $\mu$ M DHA treatment, respectively, as compared to equimolar BSA treatment. Treatment with 10  $\mu$ M and 30  $\mu$ M fatty acids had no significant effect on oxytocinstimulated  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ .

Not all cells selected for imaging responded to oxytocin with an increase in  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  (Figure 4). We observed considerable heterogeneity in the response of PUFA treated cells in particular, i.e., some cells in the dish responded robustly, some weakly, and some not at all. When individual cells that exhibited no response to oxytocin were excluded from the analysis, the effect of 100 µM DHA treatment was less pronounced, but still represented a significant decrease of 25% compared to equimolar BSA treatment, whereas 100 µM AA treatment was not significantly different (Figure 5). Thus, the decrease in oxytocin-induced elevation of  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  observed with 100 µM PUFA could be partially attributed to a decrease in the proportion of oxytocin-sensitive cells as well as attenuated oxytocin-mediated  $Ca^{2+}$  signaling in responsive cells.

### 4.3 Phosphatidylinositol turnover

Although oxytocin can mobilize  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  through the production of the second messenger IP<sub>3</sub>, we evaluated *total* inositol phosphates (IP<sub>3</sub>, IP<sub>2</sub>, IP) in our analysis (Figure 6). This was due to the difficulty in recovering the transient IP<sub>3</sub> signal before it was dephosphorylated. Treatment with 30 µM PUFA significantly decreased the total inositol phosphates generated in response to 25 nM oxytocin as compared to equimolar OA, but not BSA (AA, p = 0.12; DHA, p = 0.11) treatment. Treatment with 100 µM AA and 100 µM DHA significantly decreased phosphatidylinositol (PI) turnover by 53% and 50% respectively as compared to equimolar BSA treatment. Treatment with 10 µM fatty acids had no effect on PI turnover and there were no significant differences between BSA and OA treatment at any concentration.

### 4.4 Oxytocin receptor ligand binding assay

Representative binding curves are shown in Figure 7. Treatment with 30  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M PUFA significantly decreased the maximum number of oxytocin receptor binding sites (B<sub>max</sub>) in a dose dependent manner without affecting affinity (K<sub>d</sub>) as compared to equimolar BSA treatment (Figure 8). Treatment with 10  $\mu$ M PUFA had no effect on B<sub>max</sub> and there were no significant differences between BSA and OA treatment at any concentration. The B<sub>max</sub> (3-4 pmol/mg protein) and K<sub>d</sub> ( $\approx$  1 nM) of controls were within the range of previously published values for the oxytocin receptor in human term myometrium (74, 91).

# 4.5 Oxytocin receptor internalization assay

Treatment with PUFAs did not significantly alter the internalization of the oxytocin receptor (Figure 9). There was less ligand bound overall in 100  $\mu$ M AA and 100  $\mu$ M DHA treated cells (data not shown), reflecting the reduced number of oxytocin receptor binding sites, but the rate of internalization between 0 min and 30 min time points did not change as compared to equimolar BSA treated cells. Maximum internalization was observed between 30 min and 60 min time points.

### Chapter 5

#### Discussion

Considering the low PG concentration and synthetic capacity in idiopathic premature delivery, it is difficult to reconcile the inhibitory effect of LC n-3 PUFAs on PG biosynthesis (48-51, 91-93) as the sole mechanism of action for DHA prolonging gestation. Besides their effects on production of PGs, LC n-3 PUFAs can act directly at the plasma membrane level. This was first demonstrated by Leaf et al regarding the antiarrhythmic effect of fish and fish oil consumption (57-59). The precise site of action in cardiomyocytes remains to be fully elucidated, but data from Anderson and colleagues (94-97) have led to the current thinking that LC n-3 PUFAs electrically stabilize cardiomyocytes by modulating ion channels through changes in membrane fluidity and elasticity in the microdomain bordering the transmembrane protein.

LC n-3 PUFAs have also been shown to exert their anti-inflammatory properties through eicosanoid-independent membrane effects. The successful application of LC n-3 PUFAs in the treatment of immune-inflammatory diseases is based largely on their ability to suppress T lymphocyte activation (98-101). A number of key proteins involved in signal transduction are known to associate with lipid rafts, targeted there by acylation with saturated fatty acids (102). LC n-3 PUFAs have been proposed to disrupt T cell activation by displacing raft-resident signaling proteins such as Src family kinases and transmembrane linker for activation of T cells from lipid rafts (103-105). LC n-3 PUFAs are thought to act primarily by altering raft composition and structure, although changes

in protein fatty acylation may contribute to the displacement of proteins from lipid rafts (106).

These observations raise the possibility that dietary LC n-3 PUFAs prolong gestational duration through changes in the lipid bilayer properties. The neurohypophysial hormone oxytocin activates an important membrane-mediated signaling pathway in parturition. Oxytocin is best known for its uterotonic activity (73) and data from some animal studies (107-110) suggest that it may be involved in the initiation of labor. In humans, myometrial sensitivity to oxytocin is significantly increased in women delivering preterm and decreased in women delivering post-term (111). The oxytocin receptor belongs to the class A G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) family characterized by seven transmembrane domains; hence, it may potentially be influenced by the lipid composition and architecture of the plasma membrane in which it embeds.

In the present study we demonstrated that both AA and DHA significantly alter the membrane lipid composition of PHM1-41 pregnant human myometrial smooth muscle cells (Figures 1 and 2) and suppress oxytocin-stimulated  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  mobilization (Figures 3 and 4). The cells were washed several times during the Ca<sup>2+</sup> dye loading procedure, thus an interpretation based on a free fatty acid effect as proposed in cardiomyocytes (112-116) and rat aortic smooth muscle cells appears unlikely. Inhibition of the oxytocin-stimulated rise in  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  was associated with near abolition of PI turnover (only 7.9 ± 9.7% and 14.2 ± 8.8% over basal for 100 µM AA and 100 µM DHA treated cells respectively) (Figure 6). Upstream of PI turnover, we found that 100 µM PUFA drastically reduced the number of oxytocin receptor binding sites in the membrane

without affecting binding affinity (Figure 7). Fahrenholz et al have demonstrated that membrane cholesterol acts as an allosteric modulator of the oxytocin receptor (117-120). High-affinity state receptors are stabilized three-fold ( $t_{1/2}$ ) and enriched two-fold in cholesterol-rich, caveolin-containing membrane domains (121). The range of oxytocin concentrations used in this saturation binding study ( $10^{-10}$  to  $10^{-7}$  M) would not detect the presence of a second, low affinity binding site in the  $10^{-7}$  to  $10^{-6}$  M range as reported by Zhong et al (122). Since Chen et al have shown that DHA incorporation into membrane phospholipids is accompanied by depletion of cholesterol from caveolae (123), the possibility that DHA in the present study shifts a population of receptors into the low affinity binding state may warrant further investigation. PI turnover and receptor binding sites decreased with 30 µM PUFA treatment, but apparently remained at levels sufficient for oxytocin-stimulated [Ca<sup>2+</sup>]<sub>i</sub> mobilization.

The decreased oxytocin response observed in the present study appears predominantly attributable to decreased number of oxytocin binding sites. Fatty acids are known to modulate the expression of a number of genes, mostly encoding proteins involved in fatty acid transport or metabolism (review 124). Fatty acids can influence gene expression through direct binding to GPCRs (125) and transcription factors (126-128), regulation of the nuclear abundance of transcription factors (129-131), and regulation of protein kinases (131, 132). Still, it is unclear how, or indeed whether, PUFAs regulate expression of the oxytocin receptor in myometrial cells. DHA can activate PKC, at least in hepatocytes (review 124), and melatonin-dependent PKC activation has been shown to inhibit oxytocin receptor transcription (133) in human myometrial cells. Prolonged exposure to agonists desensitizes many GPCRs, protecting

the cell from overstimulation. Following receptor activation, GPCRs are commonly subject to a cycle of internalization and sequestration, resensitization, and recycling back to the plasma membrane. We did not detect any differences in the rate of oxytocin receptor internalization upon ligand binding however (Figure 9). Phaneuf et al have reported that the number of oxytocin receptor binding sites decreases by nearly 90% in human myometrial cells exposed to oxytocin for 20 h, however, they detected no change in the level of oxytocin receptor protein measured by Western blotting (134). This data suggests the possibility that PUFAs might regulate oxytocin receptor function post-translationally through phosphorylation or uncoupling from G proteins.

In view of the frequently antagonistic actions of dietary AA and DHA, our observation that both n-6 and n-3 LC PUFAs inhibit oxytocin signaling was unexpected. AA in the body originates from either synthesis through desaturation and elongation of 18:2 linoleic acid (LA), an essential fatty acid, or from the diet. The intake of LA contributes 5-7% of dietary energy in western nations. A recent human study has demonstrated that increasing the contribution of LA to as much as 20% of dietary energy does not increase plasma phospholipid AA (135). Meat, fish, and eggs are the major food sources of AA. Studies comparing the fatty acid profile of omnivores and vegetarians have reported only slight differences in the level of AA (136-138). These data suggest that a moderate variation in intake of AA has no major effect on AA accumulation, thus an effect of AA supplementation observed in cell culture may not be relevant to a physiological diet. In conclusion, we have shown a generalized effect of LC PUFAs on inhibiting oxytocin-stimulated  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  mobilization. These findings may be relevant to the reports of dietary fish and fish oil consumption prolonging gestation.

# **References for Chapter 2 to 5**

1. Davidoff MJ, Dias T, Damus K, Russell R, Bettegowda VR, Dolan S, Schwarz RH, Green NS, Petrini J. Changes in gestational age distribution among U.S. singleton births: Impact on rates of late preterm birth, 1992 to 2002. Semin Perinatol 30: 8-15, 2006.

2. McCormack MC. The contribution of low birth weight to infant mortality and childhood morbidity. N Engl J Med 312: 82-90, 1985.

3. Kramer MS, Demissie K, Yang H, Platt RW, Sauve R, Liston R. The contribution of mild and moderate preterm birth to infant mortality. JAMA 284: 843-849, 2000.

4. Allen KGD, Harris MA. The role of n-3 fatty acids in gestation and parturition. Exp Biol Med 226: 498-506, 2001.

5. Olsen SF, Hansen HS, Sorensen TIA, Jensen B, Secher NJ, Sommer S, Knudsen LB. Intake of marine fat, rich in (n-3) polyunsaturated fatty acids, may increase birthweight by prolonging gestation. Lancet 2: 367-369, 1986.

6. Olsen SF, Hansen HS, Sommer S, Jensen B, Sorensen TIA, Secher NJ, Zachariassen P. Gestational age in relation to marine n-3 fatty acids in maternal erythrocytes: A study in the Faroe Islands and Denmark. Am J Obstet Gynecol 164: 1203-1209, 1991.

7. Olsen SF, Sorensen JD, Secher NJ, Hedegaard M, Henriksen TB, Hansen HS, Grant A. Randomized controlled trial of effect of fish-oil supplementation on pregnancy duration. Lancet 339: 1003-1007, 1992.

8. Olsen SF, Secher NJ, Tabor A, Weber T, Walker JJ, Gluud C. Randomised clinical trials of fish oil supplementation in high risk pregnancies. BJOG 107: 382-395, 2000.

9. Olsen SF, Osterdal ML, Salvig JD, Weber T, Tabor A, Secher NJ. Duration of pregnancy in relation to fish oil supplementation and habitual fish intake: a randomized clinical trial with fish oil. Eur J Clin Nutr 61: 976-985, 2007.

10. Olsen SF, Secher HJ. Low consumption of seafood in early pregnancy as a risk factor for preterm delivery: prospective cohort study. Br Med J 324: 447-450, 2002.

11. Smuts CM, Huang M, Mundy D, Plasse T, Major S, Carlson SE. A randomized trial of docosahexaenoic acid supplementation during the third trimester of pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol. 101: 469-479, 2003.

12. Olson DM, Mijovic JE, Sadowsky DW. Control of human parturition. Seminars in Perinatology 19: 52-63, 1995.

13. Paneth N, Pinto-Martin J. 1990 The epidemiology of germinal matrix/intraventricular hemorrhage. In: Kiely M (ed) Reproductive and Perinatal Epidemiology. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, pp 371-399

14. Committee on Understanding Premature Birth and Assuring Healthy Outcomes. Preterm Birth: Causes, Consequences, and Prevention. Behrman RE, Butler AS, Eds., National Academies Press, Washington, D.C., 2006.

15. Zahner G, Harendza S, Muller E, Wolf G, Thaiss F, Stahl RA. Prostaglandin  $E_2$  stimulates expression of matrix metalloproteinase 2 in cultured rat mesangial cells. Kidney Int 51: 1116-1123, 1997.

16. Ito H, Duxbury M, Benoit E, Clancy TE, Zinner MA, Ashley SW, Whang EE. Prostaglandin  $E_2$  enhances pancreatic cancer invasiveness through an Ets-1-dependent induction of matrix metalloproteinase-2. Cancer Res 64: 7439-7446, 2004.

17. Callejas NA, Casado M, Diaz-Guerra MJ, Bosca L, Martin-Sanz P. Expression of cyclooxygenase-2 promotes the release of matrix metalloproteinase-2 and -9 in fetal rat hepatocytes. Hepatology 33: 860-867, 2001.

18. Faisal Kahn KM, Howe, LR, Falcone DJ. Extracellular matrix-induced cyclooxygenase-2 regulates macrophage proteinase expression. J Biol Chem 279: 22039-22046, 2004.

19. Lindsey JD, Kashiwagi K, Boyle D, Kashiwagi F, Firestein GS, Weinreb RN. Prostaglandins increase proMMP-1 and proMMP-3 secretion by human ciliary muscle cells. Curr Eye Res 15: 869-875, 1996.

20. Weinreb RN, Kashiwagi K, Kashiwagi F, Tsukahara S, Lindsey JD. Prostaglandins increase matrix metalloproteinase release from human ciliary smooth muscle cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 38: 2772-2780, 1997.

21. McLaren J, Taylor DJ, Bell SC. Prostaglandin  $E_2$ -dependent production of latent matrix metalloproteinase-9 in cultures of human fetal membranes. Molecular Human Reproduction 6: 1033-1040, 2000.

22. Ulug U, Goldman S, Ben-Shlomo I, Shalev E. Matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-2 and MMP-9 and their inhibitor, TIMP-1, in human term deciduas and fetal membranes: the effect of prostaglandin  $F_{2\alpha}$  and indomethacin. Mol Human Reproduction 7: 1187-1193, 2001.

23. Vadillo-Ortega F, Hernandez A, Gonzalez-Avila G, Bermejo L, Iwata K, Strauss JF 3<sup>rd</sup>. Increased matrix metalloproteinase activity and reduced tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 levels in amniotic fluids from pregnancies complicated by premature rupture of the membranes, Am J Obstet Gynecol 174: 1371-1376, 1996.

24. Ulmsten U. Aspects on ripening of the cervix and induction of labor by intracervical application of PGE2 in viscous gel. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand Suppl 84: 5-9, 1979.

25. O'Brien WF, Knuppel RA, Cohen GR. Plasma prostaglandin metabolite levels after use of prostaglandin  $E_2$  gel for cervical ripening. Am J Obstet Gynecol 155: 1037-1040, 1986.

26. Sennstrom MKB, Brauner A, Lu Y, Granström LMM, Malmström AL, Ekman GE. Interleukin-8 is a mediator of the final cervical ripening in humans. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 74: 89-92, 1997.

27. Bygdeman M, Eliasson R. A comparative study on the effect of different prostaglandin compounds on the motility of the isolated human myometrium. Med Exp Int J Exp Med 9: 409-415, 1963.

28. Bygdeman M, Eliasson R. The effect of prostaglandin from human seminal fluid on the motility of the nonpregnant human uterus in vitro. Acta Physiol Scand 59: 43-51, 1963.

29. Bygdeman M, Kwon S, Wiqvist N. The effect of prostaglandin  $E_1$  on human pregnant myometrium in vivo. In: Prostaglandins, Proc. 2nd Nobel Symp., Stockholm, June 1966, ed. by S. Bergström and B. Samuelsson, pp. 93-96, Almqvist and Wiksell, Stockholm; Interscience, New York, 1967.

30. Karim SM, Hillier K, Somers K, Trussell RR. The effects of prostaglandins  $E_2$  and  $F_{2\alpha}$  administered by different routes on uterine activity and the cardiovascular system in pregnant and non-pregnant women. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw 78: 172-179, 1971.

31. Karim SM. Effects of oral administration of prostaglandins  $E_2$  and  $F_{2\alpha}$  on the human uterus. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw 78: 289-293, 1971.

32. Zuckerman H, Reiss U, Rubinstein I. Inhibition of human premature labor by indomethacin. Obstet Gynecol 44: 787-792, 1974.

33. Wiqvist N, Lundström V, Gréen K. Premature labor and indomethacin. Prostaglandins 10: 515-526, 1975.

34. Salmon JA, Amy JJ. Levels of prostaglandin  $F_{2\alpha}$  in amniotic fluid during pregnancy and labour. Prostaglandins 4: 523-528. 1973.

35. Keirse MJNC, Flint APF, Turnbull AC. F prostaglandins in amniotic fluid during pregnancy and labour. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw 81: 131-135, 1974.

36. Hillier K, Calder AA, Embrey MP. Concentrations of prostaglandin  $F_{2a}$  in amniotic fluid and plasma in spontaneous and induced labours. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw 81: 257-263, 1974.

37. Green K, Bygdeman M, Toppozada M, Wiqvist N. The role of prostaglandin  $F_{2a}$  in human parturition. Endogenous plasma levels of 15-keto-13,14-dihydro-prostaglandin  $F_{2a}$  during labour. Am J Obstet Gynecol 120: 25-31, 1974.

38. Dray F, Frydman R. Primary prostaglandin in amniotic fluid in pregnancy and spontaneous labor. Am J Obstet Gynecol 126: 13-19, 1976.

39. Keirse MJNC, Mitchell MD, Turnbull AC. Changes in prostaglandin F and 13,14-dihydro-15-keto prostaglandin F concentrations in amniotic fluid at the onset of and during labour. BJOG 84: 743-746, 1977.

40. Keirse MJNC, Hicks BR, Mitchell MD, Turnbull AC. Increase of the prostaglandin precursor, arachidonic acid, in amniotic fluid during spontaneous labour. BJOG 84: 937-940, 1977.

41. Reece MS, McGregor JA, Allen KGD, Harris MA. Maternal and perinatal long chain fatty acids: possible roles in preterm birth. Am J Obstet Gynecol 176: 907-914, 1997.

42. Achard D, Gilbert M, Benistant C, Slama SB, DeWitt DL, Smith WL, Lagarde M. Eicosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic acids reduce PGH synthase 1 expression in bovine aortic endothelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 241: 513-518, 1997.

43. Singh J, Hamid R, Reddy BS. Dietary fat and colon cancer: modulation of cyclooxygenase-2 by types and amount of dietary fat during the postinitiation stage of colon carcinogenesis. Cancer Res 57: 3465-3470, 1997.

44. Siess W, Roth P, Scherer B, Kurzmann I, Böhlig B, Weber PC. Plateletmembrane fatty acids, platelet aggregation, and thromboxane formation during a mackerel diet. Lancet 1: 441-444, 1980.

45. Goodnight SH Jr, Harris WS, Connor WE, Illingworth DR. Polyunsaturated fatty acids, hyperlipidemia, and thrombosis. Arteriosclerosis 2: 87-113, 1982.

46. Corey EJ, Shih C, Cashman JR. Docosahexaenoic is a strong inhibitor of prostaglandin but not leukotriene biosynthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 80: 3581-3584, 1983.

47. Marshall PJ, Kulmacz RJ. Prostaglandin H synthase: distinct binding sites for cyclooxygenase and peroxidase substrates. Arch Biochem Biophys 266: 162-170, 1988.

48. Huang MC, Craig-Schmidt MC. Arachidonate and docosahexaenoate added to infant formula influence fatty acid composition and subsequent eicosanoid production in neonatal pigs. J Nutr 126: 2199-2208, 1996.

49. Hansen-Petrik MB, McEntee MF, Johnson BJ, Obukowicz MG, Whelan J. Highly unsaturated (n-3) fatty acids, but not  $\alpha$ -linolenic, conjugated linolenic or  $\gamma$ -linolenic acids, reduce tumorigenesis in Ap-cMin/+ mice. J Nutr 130: 2434-2442, 2000.

50. Perez MA, Hansen RA, Harris, MA, Allen, KGD. Dietary docosahexaenoic acid alters pregnant rat reproductive tissue prostaglandin and matrix metalloproteinase production. J Nutr Biochem17: 446-453, 2006.

51. Conquer JA, Holub BJ. Dietary docosahexaenoic acid as a source of eicosapentaenoic acid in vegetarians and omnivores. Lipids 32: 341-345, 1997.

52. Ikeda I, Wakamatsu K, Inayoshi A, Imaizumi K, Sugano M, Yazawa K. αlinolenic, eicosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic acids affect lipid metabolism differently in rats. J Nutr 124: 1898-1906, 1994.

53. Goldenberg RL, Hauth JC, Andrews WW. Intrauterine infection and preterm delivery. N Engl J Med 342: 1500-1507, 2000.

54. Romero R, Emamian M, Wan M, Quintero R, Hobbins JC, Mitchell MD. Prostaglandin concentrations in amniotic fluid of women with intra-amniotic infection and preterm labor. Am J Obstet Gynecol 157: 1461-1467, 1987.

55. Reece MS, McGregor JA, Allen KGD, Mathias MM, Harris MA. Prostaglandins in selected reproductive tissues in pre-term and full term gestations. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 55: 303-307, 1996.

56. Sadovsky Y, Nelson DM, Muglia LJ, Gross GA, Harris KC, Koki A, Masferrer JL, Olson LM. Effective diminution of amniotic prostaglandin production by selective inhibitors of cyclooxygenase type 2. Am J Obstet Gynecol 182: 370-376, 2000.

57. Leaf A, Kang JX, Xiao Y-F, Billman GE. Clinical prevention of sudden cardiac death by n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and mechanism of prevention of arrhythmias by n-3 fish oils. Circulation 107: 2645-2652, 2003.

58. Leaf A, Xiao YF, Kang JX, Billman GE. Prevention of sudden cardiac death by n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. Pharmacol Ther 98: 355-377, 2003.

59. Leaf A, Xiao YF, Kang JX, Billman GE. Membrane effects of the n-3 fish oil fatty acids, which prevent fatal ventricular arrhythmias. J Membr Biol 206: 129-139, 2005.
60. Stulnig TM, Berger M, Sigmund T, Raederstorff D, Stockinger H, Waldhäusl W. Polyunsaturated fatty acids inhibit T cell signal transduction by modification of detergent-insoluble membrane domains. J Cell Biol 143: 637-644, 1998.

61. Stulnig TM, Huber J, Leitinger N, Imre EM, Angelisova P, Nowotny P, Waldhäusl W. Polyunsaturated eicosapentaenoic acid displaces proteins from membrane rafts by altering raft lipid composition. J Biol Chem 276: 37335-37340, 2001.

62. Zeyda M, Staffler G, Horejsi V, Waldhäusl W, Stulnig TM. LAT displacement from lipid rafts as a molecular mechanism for the inhibition of T cell signaling by polyunsaturated fatty acids. J Biol Chem 277: 28418-28423, 2002.

63. Fan YY, McMurray DN, Ly LH, Chapkin RS. Dietary (n-3) polyunsaturated fatty acids remodel mouse T-cell lipid rafts. J Nutr 133: 1913-1920, 2003.

64. Fan YY, Ly LH, Barhoumi R, McMurray DN, Chapkin RS. Dietary docosahexaenoic acid suppresses T cell protein kinase C theta lipid raft recruitment and IL-2 production. J Immunol 173: 6151-6160, 2004.

65. Klein U, Fahrenholz F. Reconstitution of the myometrial oxytocin receptor into proteoliposomes. Dependence of oxytocin binding on cholesterol. Eur J Biochem 220: 559-567, 1994.

66. Klein U, Gimpl G, Fahrenholz F. Alteration of the myometrial plasma membrane cholesterol content with beta-cyclodextrin modulates the binding affinity of the oxytocin receptor. Biochemistry 34: 13784-13793, 1995.

67. Gimpl G, Burger K, Fahrenholz F. Cholesterol as modulator of receptor function. Biochemistry 36: 10959-10974, 1997.

68. Gimpl G, Burger K, Politowska E, Ciarkowski J, Fahrenholz F. Oxytocin receptors and cholesterol: interaction and regulation. Exp Physiol 85: 41-50, 2000.

69. Gimpl G, Fahrenholz F. Human oxytocin receptors in cholesterol-rich vs. cholesterol-poor microdomains of the plasma membrane. Eur J Biochem 267: 2483-2497, 2000.

70. Guzzi F, Zanchetta D, Cassoni P, Guzzi V, Francolini M, Parenti M, Chini B. Localization of the human oxytocin receptor in caveolin-1 enriched domains turns the receptor-mediated inhibition of cell growth into a proliferative response. Oncogene 21: 1658-1667, 2002.

71. Rimoldi V, Reversi A, Taverna E, Rosa P, Francolini M, Cassoni P, Parenti M, Chini B. Oxytocin receptor elicits different EGFR/MAPK activation patterns depending on its localization in caveolin-1 enriched domains. Oncogene 22: 6054-6060, 2003.

72. Whittington K, Connors B, King K, Assinder S, Hogarth K, Nicholson H. The effect of oxytocin on cell proliferation in the human prostate is modulated by gonadal steroids: implications for benign prostatic hyperplasia and carcinoma of the prostate. Prostate 67: 1132-1142, 2007.

73. Dale HH. On some physiological actions of ergot. J Physiol (Lond) 34: 163-206, 1906.

74. Monga M, Ku CY, Dodge K, Sanborn BM. Oxytocin-stimulated responses in a pregnant human immortalized myometrial cell line. Biol Reprod 55: 427-432, 1996.

75. Folch J, Lees M, Sloane Stanley GH. A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipides from animal tissues. J Biol Chem 226: 497-509, 1957.

76. Morrison WR and Smith LM. Preparation of fatty acid methyl esters and dimethylacetals from lipids with boron fluoride-methanol. J Lipid Res 5: 600-608, 1964.

77. Hallaq H, Sellmayer A, Smith TW, Leaf A. Protective effect of eicosapentaenoic acid on ouabain toxicity in neonatal rat cardiac myocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87: 7834-7838, 1990.

78. Fournier A, Fantini E, Sergiel JP, Athias P, Grynberg A. Influence of the phospholipid content in docosahexaenoic acid on electrophysiology and contraction of rat heart muscle cells. Cardioscience 6:71-78, 1995.

79. Grynberg A, Fournier A, Sergiel JP, Athias P. Effect of docosahexaenoic acid and eicosapentaenoic acid in the phospholipids of rat heart muscle cells on adrenoceptor responsiveness and mechanism. J Mol Cell Cardiol 27: 2507-2520, 1995.

80. de Jonge HW, Dekkers DH, Bastiaanse EM Bezstarosti K, van der Laarse A, Lamers JM. Eicosapentaenoic acid incorporation in membrane phospholipids modulates receptor-mediated phospholipase C and membrane fluidity in rat ventricular myocytes in culture. J Mol Cell Cardiol 28: 1097-1108, 1996.

81. Reithmann C, Scheininger C, Bulgan T, Werdan K. Exposure to the n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid docosahexaenoic acid impairs alpha 1-adrenoceptor-mediated contractile responses and inositol phosphate formation in rat cardiomyocytes. Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Archives of Pharmacology 354: 109-119, 1996.

82. Weylandt KH, Kang JX, Leaf A. Polyunsaturated fatty acids exert antiarrhythmic actions as free acids rather than in phospholipids. Lipids 31: 977-982, 1996.

83. Durot I, Athias P, Oudot F, Grynberg A. Influence of phospholipid long chain polyunsaturated fatty acid composition on neonatal rat cardiomyocyte function in physiological conditions and during glucose-free hypoxia-reoxygenation. Molecular & Cellular Biochemistry 175: 253-262, 1997.

84. Hirafuji M, Ebihara T, Kawahara F, Hamaue N, Endo T, Minami M. Inhibition by docosahexaenoic acid of receptor-mediated  $Ca^{2+}$  influx in rat vascular smooth muscle cells stimulated with 5-hydroxytryptamine. Eur J Pharmacol 427: 195-201, 2001.

85. Hirafuji M, Ebihara T, Kawahara F, Nezu A, Taminura A, Saito H, Minami M. Effect of docosahexaenoic acid on intracellular calcium dynamics in vascular smooth muscle cells from normotensive and genetically hypertensive rats. Res Commun Mol Pathol Pharmacol 102: 29-42, 1998.

86. Hirafuji M, Ebihara T, Kawahara F, Minami M. Effect of docosahexaenoic acid on smooth muscle cell functions. Life Sci 62: 1689-1693, 1998.

87. Ng Y, Barhoumi R, Tjalkens RB, Fan YY, Kolar S, Wang N, Lupton JR, Chapkin RS. The role of docosahexaenoic acid in mediating mitochondrial membrane lipid oxidation and apoptosis in colonocytes. Carcinogenesis 26: 1914-1921, 2005.

88. Collett ED, Davidson LA, Fan YY, Lupton JR, Chapkin RS.n-6 and n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids differentially modulate oncogenic Ras activation in colonocytes. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 280: C1066-1075, 2001.

89. Dunstan JA, Mori TA, Barden A, Beilin LJ, Holt PG, Calder PC, Taylor AL, Prescott SL. Effects of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation in pregnancy on maternal and fetal erythrocyte fatty acid composition. Eur J Clin Nutr 58: 429-437, 2004.

90. Phaneuf S, Rodríguez Liñares B, TambyRaja RL, MacKenzie IZ, López Bernal A. Loss of myometrial oxytocin receptors during oxytocin-induced and oxytocin-augmented labour. J Reprod Fertil 120: 91-97, 2000.

91. Knapp HR, Reilly IAG, Alessandrini P, FitzGerald GA. In vitro indexes of platelet and vascular function during fish-oil administration in patients with atherosclerosis. N Engl J Med 314: 937-942, 1986.

92. Leaf A, Weber PC. Cardiovascular effects of n-3 fatty acids. N Engl J Med 318: 549-547, 1988.

93. Whelan J, McEntee. Dietary (n-6) PUFA and intestinal tumorigenesis. J Nutr 134: 34218-3426S, 2004.

94. Lundbaek JA, Birn P, Girshman J, Hansen AJ, Andersen OS. Membrane stiffness and channel function. Biochemistry 35: 3825-3830,1996.

95. Lundbaek JA, Andersen OS. Spring constants for channel-induced lipid bilayer deformations. Estimates using gramicidin channels. Biophys J 76: 889-895, 1999.

96. Lundbaek JA, Birn P, Hansen AJ, Søgaard R, Nielsen C, Girshman J, Bruno MJ, Tape SE, Egebjerg J, Greathouse DV, Mattice GL, Koeppe RE 2<sup>nd</sup>, Andersen OS.

Regulation of sodium channel function by bilayer elasticity: the importance of hydrophobic coupling. Effects of micelle-forming amphiphiles and cholesterol. J Gen Physiol 123: 599-621, 2004.

97. Bruno MJ, Koeppe RE 2<sup>nd</sup>, Andersen OS. Docosahexaenoic acid alters bilayer elastic properties. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104: 9638-9643, 2007.

98. Santoli D, Zurier RB. Prostaglandin E precursor fatty acids inhibit human IL-2 production by a prostaglandin E-independent mechanism. J Immunol 143: 1303-1309, 1989.

99. Santoli D, Phillips PD, Colt TL, Zurier RB. Suppression of interleukin 2-dependent human T cell growth in vitro by prostaglandin E (PGE) and their precursor fatty acids. Evidence for a PGE-independent mechanism of inhibition by the fatty acids. J Clin Invest 85: 424-432, 1990.

100. Calder PC, Bevan SJ, Newsholme EA. The inhibition of T-lymphocyte proliferation by fatty acids is via an eicosanoid-independent mechanism. Immunology 75: 108-115, 1992.

101. Zurier RB, Rossetti RG, Seiler CM, Laposata M. Human peripheral blood T lymphocyte proliferation after activation of the T cell receptor: effects of unsaturated fatty acids. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 60: 371-375, 1999.

102. Melkonian KA, Ostermeyer AG, Chen JZ, Roth MG, Brown DA. Role of lipid modifications in targeting proteins to detergent-resistant membrane rafts. Many raft proteins are acylated, while few are prenylated. J Biol Chem 274: 3910-3917, 1999.

103. Stulnig TM, Berger M, Sigmund T, Raederstorff D, Stockinger H, Waldhäusl W. Polyunsaturated fatty acids inhibit T cell signal transduction by modification of detergent-insoluble membrane domains. J Cell Biol 143: 637-644, 1998.

104. Stulnig TM, Huber J, Leitinger N, Imre EM, Angelisova P, Nowotny P, Waldhäusl W. Polyunsaturated eicosapentaenoic acid displaces proteins from membrane rafts by altering raft lipid composition. J Biol Chem 276: 37335-37340, 2001.

105. Zeyda M, Staffler G, Horejsi V, Waldhäusl W, Stulnig TM. LAT displacement from lipid rafts as a molecular mechanism for the inhibition of T cell signaling by polyunsaturated fatty acids. J Biol Chem 277: 28418-28423, 2002.

106. Webb Y, Hermida-Matsumoto L, Resh MD. Inhibition of protein palmitoylation, raft localization, and T cell signaling by 2-bromopalmitate and polyunsaturated fatty acids. J Biol Chem 275: 261-270, 2000.

107. Wilson L, Parsons MT, Flouret G. Inhibition of spontaneous uterine contractions during the last trimester in pregnant baboons by an oxytocin antagonist. Am J Obstet Gynecol 163: 1875-1882, 1990.

108. Owiny JR, Mitchell M, Nathanielsz PW. Effect of 48-hour infusion of the synthetic oxytocin antagonist, [1-beta-mercapto(beta- $(CH_2)_5)^1(OMe)Tyr^2$ ,  $Orn^8$ ]-oxytocin, on myometrial activity of pregnant sheep at 139 – 140 days of gestation. Biol Reprod 47: 436-440, 1992.

109. Hirst JJ, Haluska GJ, Cook MJ, Novy MJ. Plasma oxytocin and nocturnal uterine activity: maternal but not fetal concentrations increase progressively during late pregnancy and delivery in rhesus monkeys. Am J Obstet Gynecol 169: 415-422, 1993.

110. Mecenas CA, Giussani DA, Owiny JR, Jenkins SL, Wu WX, Honnebier BO, Lockwood CJ, Kong L, Guller S, Nathanielsz PW. Production of premature delivery rhesus monkeys by androstenedione infusion. Nat Med 2:443-448, 1996.

111. Takahashi K, Diamond F, Bieniarz J, Yen H, Burd L. Uterine contractility and oxytocin sensitivity in preterm, term, and postterm pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 136: 774-779, 1980.

112. Kang JX, Leaf A. Effects of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids on the contraction of neonatal rat cardiac myocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 91: 9886-9890, 1994.

113. Kang JX, Leaf A. Prevention and termination of beta-adrenergic agonist-induced arrhythmias by free polyunsaturated fatty acids in neonatal rat cardiac myocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 208: 629-636, 1995.

114. Kang JX, Leaf A. Protective effects of free polyunsaturated fatty acids on arrhythmias induced by lysophosphatidylcholine or palmitoylcarnitine in neonatal rat cardiac myocytes. Eur J Pharmacol 297: 97-106, 1996.

115. Li Y, Kang JX, Leaf A. Differential effects of various eicosanoids on the production or prevention of arrhythmias in cultured neonatal rat cardiac myocytes. Prostaglandins 54: 511-530, 1997.

116. Xiao YF, Kang JX, Morgan JP, Leaf A. Blocking effects of polyunsaturated fatty acids on Na+ channels of neonatal ventricular myocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92: 11000-11004, 1995.

117. Klein U, Fahrenholz F. Reconstitution of the myometrial oxytocin receptor into proteoliposomes. Dependence of oxytocin binding on cholesterol. Eur J Biochem 220: 559-567, 1994.

118. Klein U, Gimpl G, Fahrenholz F. Alteration of the myometrial plasma membrane cholesterol content with beta-cyclodextrin modulates the binding affinity of the oxytocin receptor. Biochemistry 34: 13784-13793, 1995.

119. Gimpl G, Burger K, Fahrenholz F. Cholesterol as modulator of receptor function. Biochemistry 36: 10959-10974, 1997.

120. Gimpl G, Burger K, Politowska E, Ciarkowski J, Fahrenholz F. Oxytocin receptors and cholesterol: interaction and regulation. Exp Physiol 85: 41-50, 2000.

121. Gimpl G, Fahrenholz F. Human oxytocin receptors in cholesterol-rich vs. cholesterol-poor microdomains of the plasma membrane. Eur J Biochem 267: 2483-2497, 2000.

122. Zhong M, Navratil AM, Clay C, Sanborn BM. Residues in the hydrophilic face of putative helix 8 of oxytocin receptor are important for receptor function. Biochemistry 43: 3490-3498, 2004.

123. Chen W, Jump DB, Esselman WJ, Busik JV. Inhibition of cytokine signaling in human retinal endothelial cells through modification of caveolae/lipid rafts by docosahexaenoic acid. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 48: 18-26, 2007.

124. Jump DB, Botolin D, Wang Y, Xu J, Demeure O, Christian B. Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and hepatic gene transcription. Chem Phys Lipids 153: 3-13, 2008.

125. Kostenis E. A glance at G-protein-coupled receptors for lipid mediators: a growing receptor family with remarkably diverse ligands. Pharmacol Ther 102: 243–257, 2004.

126. Xu HE, Lambert MH, Montana VG, Parks DJ, Blanchard SG, Brown PJ, Sternbach DD, Lehmann JM, Wisely GB, Willson TM, Kliewer SA, Milburn MV. Molecular recognition of fatty acids by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors. Mol Cell 3: 397–403, 1999.

127. Mata de Urquiza A, Liu S, Sjoberg M, Zetterstrom RH, Criffith W, Sjovall J, Perlmann T. Docosahexeanoic acid, a ligand for retinoic X receptor in mouse brain. Science 290: 2140–2144, 2000.

128. Dhe-Paganon S, Duda K, Iwamoto M, Chi YI, Shoelson SE. Crystal structure of the HNF4 alpha ligand binding domain in complex with endogenous fatty acid ligand. J Biol Chem 277: 37973–37976, 2002.

129. Dentin R, Benhamed F, Pégorier JP, Foufelle F, Viollet B, Vaulont S, Girard J, Postic C. Polyunsaturated fatty acids suppress glycolytic and lipogenic genes through the inhibition of ChREBP nuclear protein translocation. J Clin Invest 115: 2843–2854, 2005.

130. Xu J, Christian B, Jump DB. Regulation of rat hepatic L-pyruvate kinase promoter composition and activity by glucose, N-3 PUFA and peroxisome proliferator activated receptor-alpha agonist. J Biol Chem 281: 18351–18362, 2006.

131. Botolin D, Wang Y, Christian B, Jump DB. Docosahexaneoic acid [22: 6, n-3] stimulates rat hepatic sterol regulatory element binding protein-1c (SREBP-1c) degradation by an Erk-and 26S proteasome-dependent pathway. J Lipid Res 47: 181–192, 2006.

132. Talukdar I, Szeszel-Fedorowicz W, Salati LM. Arachidonic acid inhibits the insulin induction of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase via p38 MAP kinase. J Biol Chem 280: 40660–40667, 2005.

133. Sharkey J, Olcese J. Transcriptional inhibition of oxytocin receptor expression in human myometrial cells by melatonin involves protein kinase C signaling. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 92: 4015-4019, 2007.

134. Phaneuf S, Asbóth G, Carrasco MP, Liñares BR, Kimura T, Harris A, Bernal AL. Desensitization of oxytocin receptors in human myometrium. Hum Reprod Update 4: 625-633, 1998.

135. Liou YA, King DJ, Zibrik D, Innis SM. Decreasing linoleic acid with constant alpha-linolenic acid in dietary fats increases (n-3) eicosapentaenoic acid in plasma phospholipids in healthy men. J Nutr 137: 945-952, 2007.

136. Sanders TA, Ellis FR, Dickerson JW. Studies of vegans: the fatty acid composition of plasma choline phosphoglycerides, erythrocytes, adipose tissue, and breast milk, and some indicators of susceptibility to ischemic heart disease in vegans and omnivore controls. Am J Clin Nutr 31: 805-813, 1978.

137. Melchert HU, Limsathayourat N, Mihajlović H, Eichberg J, Thefeld W, Rottka H. Fatty acid patterns in triglycerides, diglycerides, free fatty acids, cholesteryl esters and phosphatidylcholine in serum from vegetarians and non-vegetarians. Atherosclerosis 65: 159-166, 1987.

138. Phinney SD, Odin RS, Johnson SB, Holman RT. Reduced arachidonate in serum phospholipids and cholesteryl esters associated with vegetarian diets in humans. Am J Clin Nutr 51: 385-392, 1990.



**Figure 1.** Membrane fatty acid composition (18:1 OA, 20:4 AA, 22:6 DHA) of PHM 1-41 cells treated with (A) 10  $\mu$ M, (B) 30  $\mu$ M, (C) 100  $\mu$ M OA, AA, DHA. Data are expressed as a percent of total membrane fatty acids. Values are mean percent ± SEM (n = 3 experiments). Bars within a particular membrane fatty acid series that do not share common letters are significantly different among treatment groups, p < 0.05.







**Figure 3.** The change in  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  of PHM1-41 cells in response to 25 nM oxytocin. Data are expressed as the average peak increase in  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  per dish. Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n = 7 experiments at 10  $\mu$ M and 30  $\mu$ M; n = 12 experiments at 100  $\mu$ M). Bars not sharing common letters are significantly different among treatment groups, p < 0.05.







**Figure 5.** The change in  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  of PHM1-41 cells in response to 25 nM oxytocin. Completely unresponsive cells were excluded from the analysis. Data are expressed as the average peak increase in  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  per dish. Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n = 7 experiments at 10  $\mu$ M and 30  $\mu$ M; n = 12 experiments at 100  $\mu$ M). Bars not sharing common letters are significantly different among treatment groups, p < 0.05.







Figure 7. Representative saturation binding curves of oxytocin receptor in crude membrane preparations from PHM1-41 cells treated with (A) BSA, (B) OA, (C) AA, (D) DHA. Binding curves were fitted with nonlinear regression using a one-site binding model in GraphPad Prism.



	10 µM		30 µM		100 µM	
	B <sub>max</sub>	K <sub>d</sub> (nM)	B <sub>max</sub>	K <sub>d</sub> (nM)	B <sub>max</sub>	K <sub>d</sub> (nM)
BSA	473 ± 75	0.53 ± 0.12	$437 \pm 53^{a}$	0.86 ± 0.43	$360 \pm 82^{a}$	0.43 ± 0.19
OA	342 ± 65	0.30 ± 0.13	$413 \pm 42^{a}$	0.48 ± 0.18	$449 \pm 103^{a}$	0.73 ± 0.36
AA	330 ± 71	0.38 ± 0.12	205 ± 66 <sup>⁵</sup>	0.35 ± 0.26	22 ± 13 <sup>b</sup>	0.25 ± 0.12
DHA	358 90	1.22 ± 0.53	166 ± 61 <sup>⁵</sup>	1.02 ± 0.76	47 ± 3 <sup>b</sup>	0.63 ± 0.05

**Figure 8.** Maximal oxytocin binding capacity (Bmax) and binding affinity  $(K_d)$  in crude PHM1-41 cell membrane preparations. Data are

expressed as fmol/100  $\mu$ g protein. Values are mean ± SEM (n = 3 experiments). Bars that do not share common letters and values in columns not sharing common letter superscripts are significantly different among treatment groups, p < 0.05.



**Figure 9.** Internalized [<sup>3</sup>H]-OT in PHM1-41 cells. Data are expressed as a percent of total cell-associated ligand (Membrane-bound + Internalized). Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n = 3 experiments). Points not sharing common letters are significantly different among treatment groups, p < 0.05.